ENHANCED IN VITRO TRANSLATION FOR FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS OF PROTEINS

PhD thesis

Brigitta M. Kállai

Molecular Medicine Doctoral School

Semmelweis University





Supervisor:	Tamás Mészáros, Ph.D.
Official reviewers:	Balla András, M.D., Ph.D.
	Bécsi Bálint, Ph.D.

Final Examination Committee:

Head: Gábor Varga, M.D., Ph.D., D.Sc. Members: Attila Ambrus, Ph.D. Balázs Egyed, Ph.D.

Budapest 2021

Table of contents

List of abbreviations		
1.	Introduction	. 5
1	.1. In vitro protein translation	. 5
	1.1.1. In vitro kinase assays	. 7
1	.2. Cell-cycle regulation	. 9
	1.2.1. E2F transcription factors	10
	1.2.1.1. Plant E2Fs	12
	1.2.1.2. DNA binding	14
	1.2.2. γ-Tubulin	14
	1.2.2.1. Microtubule nucleation and polymerization	15
	1.2.2.2. Nuclear functions	17
	1.2.2.3. Post-translational modifications	18
2.	Objectives	21
3.	3. Methods	
4.	Results	23
4	.1. Kinase assay with <i>in vitro</i> translated wild type and mutant AtPIN1-HL	23
4	.2. Modified pEU3 vectors for wheat germ cell-free protein expression	24
4	.3. In vitro translation of γ -tubulin with different affinity tags	27
4	.4. γ-Tubulin interaction with E2Fs	29
4	.5. Analysis of DNA binding capacity by EMSA and AlphaScreen	32
5.	Discussion	35
6.	Conclusions	40
7.	Summary	41
8.	References	42
9.	9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications54	
10.	Acknowledgements	55

List of abbreviations

AlphaScreen	Amplified Luminescent Proximity Homogenous Assay Screen
ATR	Ataxia telangiectasia-mutated and Rad3-related homolog
BAP	BRCA1-associated protein-1
BRCA1	breast cancer type 1 susceptibility protein
C53	CDK5 regulatory subunit-associated protein 3
CDK	cyclin-dependent kinase
CFPS	cell-free protein synthesis
cps	counts per second
DP	dimerization partner
DEL	DP-E2F-Like protein
E2F	E2 promoter binding factor
EMSA	electrophoretic mobility shift assay
Glu/E	glutamic acid
Gly/G	glycine
GOF	gain-of-function
GST	glutathione-S-transferase
His ₁₂	double hexahistidine
His ₆	hexahistidine
LC-MS/MS	liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry
LIC	ligation-independent cloning
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MKK	Arabidopsis thaliana mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MPK	Arabidopsis thaliana mitogen-activated protein kinase
MT	microtubule
MTOC	microtubule organizing centre
MYB66	Myb-related protein 66
NES	nuclear export signal
NLS	nuclear localization signal
NTA	nitrilotriacetic acid
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PIN	pin-formed protein

PIN1-HL	pin-formed protein 1 hydrophilic loop
POD	peroxidase
PTM	post-translational modification
Rb	retinoblastoma protein
RBR1	retinoblastoma-related protein 1
SadB	brain-specific serine/threonine-protein kinase 1
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
Ser/S	serine
SnRK1	sucrose nonfermenting-1 (SNF1)-related protein kinases
TEV	tobacco etch virus
Thr/T	threonine
Tyr/Y	tyrosine
WGE	wheat germ extract
γTuRC	γ-tubulin ring complex

1. Introduction

1.1. In vitro protein translation

The availability of proteins of interest is a prerequisite for protein functional studies that is generally ensured by the application of recombinant DNA technology and heterologous protein overexpressing systems. The protein-coding sequence could be conveniently manipulated at the DNA level to add affinity purification and detection facilitating fusion tags and investigate the functional consequences of amino acid substitutions.

The protein of interest can be produced by various means such as chemical synthesis, and in vivo by cell-based and in vitro by cell-free protein synthesis (CFPS) systems. It has been known since the 1950s that intact living cells are not required for protein translation, i.e. protein synthesis can be accomplished in a test tube if all required translational components are provided. The application of *in vitro* translation reduces the hurdles that come with the maintenance of living organisms and enables the expression of toxic proteins. The translation apparatus could be isolated from living cells and the obtained extract contains ribosomal subunits, translational factors (initiation, elongation, termination), tRNAs, and aminoacyl-tRNA-synthetases. The cell extract must be supplemented with the protein of interest coding nucleic acid template, amino acids, energy supplying components, cofactors, and other reagents to create an efficient *in vitro* translation system. The template is either DNA when coupled transcription-translation approach is used, or in vitro transcribed mRNA when these two steps are implemented separately. The protein extracts can derive from prokaryotic (E. coli) or eukaryotic (insect, yeast, Chinese hamster ovary, rabbit reticulocyte lysate, wheat germ) cells [1]. Of note, the so-called PURE system which is based on using recombinant elements of E. coli translation apparatus instead of a cell extract is also available but it is not cost-effective and provides low protein of interest yields [2].

The CFPS systems are limited by the energy supply, the mRNA accessibility, and the accumulation of by-products that inhibit the translation. When higher protein yields are required, the traditional batch reaction scheme could be replaced by continuous formats such as the continuous flow and continuous exchange reactions to ensure constant reactant supply and by-product removal by either active or passive transport through a semi-permeable membrane [3].

Ranking the batch format CFPS platforms according to their yields indicated that the most productive prokaryotic *E. coli* extract (2.3 mg/ml) was followed by the eukaryotic wheat germ extract (WGE) (1.5 mg/ml) [1]. Although the continuous development in this field resulted in several effective cell-free extracts, such as the protozoan *Leishmania tarantolae* [4], the tobacco BY-2 cell lysate [5], etc., only the WGE will be discussed since this platform was leveraged in our experiments. The applicability of the WGE-based system was elegantly illustrated in 2008 through the creation of a 'human protein factory' by *in vitro* translating more than 10,000 human proteins and creating a microarray with the produced proteins [6]. A microarray applying screening method that was developed to identify E3 ubiquitin ligases of a panel of substrates also testified the power of WGE-based translation [7]. Moreover, the WGE CFPS system was used to express high-quality malaria parasite proteins for producing antigens of vaccine development [8].

Yaeta Endo and co-workers have established a highly efficient WGE CFPS system by eliminating endogenous translational inhibitors (tritin, thionin) and ribonucleases from wheat embryos [9]. Furthermore, they created the pEU3-NII and pEU0-E01 vectors for the eukaryotic WGE based *in vitro* translation which could provide the mRNA by T7 and SP6 RNA polymerase based *in vitro* transcription reactions, respectively. Both vectors ensure that the inevitable elements of eukaryotic mRNA, i.e. 5' methylguanosine cap and poly(A) tail are substituted by a GAA triplet followed by the tobacco mosaic virus omega enhancer sequence and a 1626 nucleotide long 3' untranslated sequence, respectively. These improvements eliminated the hurdles that came with 5' capping of mRNAs and the difficult propagation of poly(A) sequence containing plasmids in bacterial cells [10].

Another important improvement achieved by the same research team was the development of a novel continuous exchange system, known as the bilayer method. In this arrangement, the higher density cell-free extract is underlaid to the feeding solution to create a boundary layer; thus, similarly to the physical semi-permeable membrane amino acids and energy components can diffuse freely and are supplied continuously to maintain the productivity of the translation reaction for an extended time and achieve a higher protein yield [11]. This simple setup is more cost-effective than the membrane-based continuous systems and more suitable for robotization, hence a rational choice for high-throughput proteomics studies.

To ease the creation of target protein-coding vectors and assure a single method for

the parallel production of different protein-encoding templates, our research group replaced the pEU3-NII vector multicloning site with a ligation-independent cloning (LIC) site [12]. The LIC method leverages the 3' exonuclease activity of T4 DNA-dependent DNA polymerase for producing 12-15 nucleotide long complementary overhang sequences in the appropriate nucleotide sequence holding linearized vectors and PCR products. Upon mixing the T4 DNA polymerase treated vector and PCR product, numerous hydrogen bonds form and stabilise the newly created circular construct. Following transformation into competent cells the missing phosphodiester bonds are created by the endogenous bacterial ligase.

Beside the LIC site, the sequences coding for either hexahistidine (His₆) or glutathione-S-transferase (GST) affinity tags were inserted into the original plasmids to aid affinity purification and detection of the expressed proteins. Furthermore, the obtained pEU3-NII-HLIC and pEU3-NII-GLIC vectors possess a tobacco etch virus (TEV) protease recognition site following the N-terminally localized affinity tags; thus, tagless target protein could be released by the protease treatment [12].

Although the His₆- and GST-tag are two of the most commonly used tags and their applications are supported by many commercially available products, they both have their drawbacks: polyhistidine stretches could be found in several endogenous proteins, hence co-purify with the target protein, whereas the relatively large GST-tag can affect the protein function; therefore, its cleavage is often required before downstream processes. To tackle these shortcomings and meet specific demands, several affinity tags were designed [13]. Due to their various advantages, the applied novel tags in this work are the FLAG-tag [14] and the double-His₆ tag (His₁₂) [15].

1.1.1. In vitro kinase assays

Most proteins are post-translationally modified to fine-tune their functions, and phosphorylation is one of the most abundant from 431 types of reported modifications [16]. Furthermore, due to its multiple roles, such as regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and DNA-repair mechanisms, phosphorylation is probably the most widely studied post-translational modification (PTM). Phosphorylation is a fast, simple, and reversible PTM, generally, the terminal phosphate of ATP is covalently attached to the hydroxyl group on serine (Ser, S), threonine (Thr, T), or tyrosine (Tyr, Y) amino acid residues by kinases and removed by phosphatases. The introduced negative charge can

affect conformation, interactions and in many cases can directly influence the activity of the modified protein [17]. Several protein kinases are themselves activated by other proteins kinases, e.g. the members of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathways. MAPKs belong to the Ser/Thr kinase superfamily and contrary to their name they are not only activated by mitogens, but also by diverse biotic and abiotic stresses. Extracellular signals frequently trigger the consecutive activation of the MAPK cascade components (MAPK kinase kinase - MAPK kinase - MAPK), resulting in the activation of the MAPK, the effector protein of the tier which is responsible for specific phosphorylation of the appropriate protein substrates. In Arabidopsis thaliana (At) – the main model organism of dicots -, there are 60 MAPK kinase kinases, 10 MAPK kinases (AtMKK) and 20 MAPKs (AtMPK). According to their sequence similarities plant MPKs can be divided into four groups (A, B, C and D), the two main MPK subtypes can be distinguished by the phosphoacceptor site of their activation loop, i.e. members of the A, B and C group have a TEY, whereas the D group representatives possess a TDY amino acid residue in this location [18]. Members of group A and B MPKs are intensively studied, e.g. the A group representing AtMPK6 has a role in environmental and hormonal stress response, while the group B member AtMPK4 takes part in cell cycle regulation and environmental stress response. On the contrary, our knowledge of the physiological role of Group C and D kinases is very limited. The several high-throughput screens that were performed to identify MPK substrates identified hundreds of proteins testifying the importance of MPKs in cell signalling, but many plant MPK target proteins are still awaiting identification [19-21].

In our work, we set out to investigate a putative plant MPK substrate, the AtPIN1 transmembrane protein which is a member of the 'long' pin-formed (PIN) protein subfamily of auxin transporters and modulates the directionality of auxin flow. In general, the long PINs are targeted to the plasma membrane through their conserved N- and C-terminal membrane-embedded hydrophobic domains that encompass the divergent central hydrophilic loop (HL) which holds several Ser/Thr kinase phosphorylatable amino acids [22]. Besides AGC kinases, phosphorylation by auxin transport-regulated plant development involved D6 protein kinases and PINOID kinases is required for appropriate AtPIN1 localization. Moreover, it was recently shown that AtPIN1 is phosphorylated by MPKs as well, e.g. Ser337 is phosphorylated by the AtMKK7-AtMPK6 pathway to

control AtPIN1 polarity [23-25].

Phosphorylation sites can be validated by creating the mutant variant of the protein, i.e. the putatively phosphorylated amino acid residue is changed to a non-phosphorylatable one such as alanine, and the phosphorylation level of wild type and mutant proteins are compared following an *in vitro* kinase reaction. On the other hand, protein phosphorylation can be mimicked by replacing the putatively phosphorylated residue with a negatively charged amino acid such as glutamate, e.g. S/TxxxxS/T consensus phosphorylation site in the case of most plant MKKs. Of note, constitutively active MPKs cannot be expressed by using phosphomimetic mutants, because MPKs have a specific TxY motif in their catalytic domain, and the Thr and Tyr residues must be phosphorylated sequentially to activate the MPKs [26]. Due to the open nature of *in vitro* translation, the WGE could be used to obtain active MPKs by co-translating the respective upstream GOF mutant MKK with the MPK in question thus the MPK is purified in an enzymatically active form [27].

Although radioactivity is health hazardous and its application demands special laboratories, *de novo* phosphorylation events are most often detected by the incorporation of radiolabelled phosphate from $[\gamma^{-32}P]ATP$ since no other method can outperform this approach in terms of sensitivity [28]. Myelin basic protein is a commonly used artificial substrate for *in vitro* MAPK activity measurement because its numerous Ser and Thr residues are readily phosphorylated by members of this protein kinase family [29].

1.2. Cell-cycle regulation

The formation of new cells is the result of a cyclic process with two main phases: interphase (G_1, S, G_2) – when the cell grows and replicates DNA, and mitosis (M) – when the division of the cell into two daughter cells is accomplished. Endoreplication (also known as endoreduplication) is a cell cycle variation characterized by several DNA replications in the absence of mitosis leading to polyploidy. In plants, endoreduplication is a regular process in various cell types [30].

The sequential progression of cell cycle phases is controlled by the complex formation of various cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK) with specific cyclins. CDKs are activated by extracellular regulatory molecules (mitogens) and inhibited during cell cycle checkpoints. When the progression of the cell cycle is disturbed (e.g. DNA damage, erroneous mitotic spindle assembly) a transient cell cycle arrest is required to enable processes that could correct the mistakes [31].

The highly organized compartmentalization and delicately regulated communication and transport between the compartments are essential in all eukaryotic organisms. The cytoskeleton and nucleoskeleton are highly dynamic networks that – besides ensuring the form and mechanical stability of the cell – play role in intracellular transport, genome organization, signal transduction, cell movement, and cell-cell interactions.

In non-dividing cells, the centrosomes organize the microtubular network; however, in mitotic cells, the two centrosomes ensure the assembly of the bipolar mitotic spindle and the segregation of the sister chromatids between daughter cells. Normally, centrosome duplication happens once during the cell cycle in synchrony with genomic DNA replication, thus the daughter cells inherit one centrosome and one genome set [32].

The centrosomes are embedded in an amorphous material, the so-called pericentriolar material. The size of the pericentriolar material constantly changes during the cell cycle and in cell division acts as a signalization hub by recruiting different checkpoint proteins. Centrosomal localization of the cyclin E-CDK2 complex is required to synchronize centrosome duplication and DNA replication. [33]. The abnormal function of the centrosome keeps the cells in G₁ phase by initiating the p38-p53-p21 signalization pathway [34]. Excess centrosome number can be caused by S phase centrosome amplification or mitotic errors and is frequently associated with DNA segregation defects and DNA instability. Abnormal centrosome number can be observed in almost all solid tumours [32].

The E2 promoter binding factors (E2Fs) are the core components of the transcriptional control of various cyclins and are also involved in centrosome duplication, thus control cell cycle progression and cell proliferation [35]. Recently, a microtubule (MT) nucleation related protein, γ -tubulin, was shown to interact both with the E2F1 protein and E2F1 binding site of the DNA in mammalian cells [36].

1.2.1. E2F transcription factors

The animal E2F transcription factors can be activators (E2F1, E2F2, E2F3a, E2F3b) or repressors (E2F4-E2F8) of the cell cycle progression (Figure 1). They are all equipped with an N-terminally located DNA-binding domain which in the case of E2F1-E2F6 is followed by the dimerization partner 1 and 2 (DP1, DP2) binding heterodimerization domains. The formation of heterodimers strengthens the binding of E2Fs to the *cis*-acting

elements of the target genes, hence increase the transactivation activity of E2Fs. E2F7 and E2F8 have E2F-like DNA-binding domains and act as repressors independently of DP interaction. DPs alone barely have affinity towards DNA and their binding specificity is determined by E2Fs. Activator E2Fs have nuclear localization signal (NLS) close to their cyclin A binding site that facilitates their nuclear localization, whereas E2F4 and E2F5 can be exported to the cytoplasm via their nuclear export signal (NES). Isoform-specific mRNAs of E2F3a/E2F3b and E2F7a/E2F7b are transcribed by using alternative promoters and produced by alternative splicing, respectively [35, 37].



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the domain organization of human and *Arabidopsis thaliana (At)* **E2F transcription factors.** The DNA-binding domain (DBD), the dimerization domain (DD), the transactivation domain (TAD), and the pocket protein binding domain (Rb) are boxed. E2F1-3 have an N-terminal NLS sequence beside the cyclin A-binding site (CycA); E2F4 and E2F5 have bipartite NES. Human E2F7-E2F8 and AtDEL1-DEL3 atypical E2Fs have a duplicated DNA-binding domain and lack heterodimerization domains and pocket protein binding domains. Modified from [35, 38].

The pocket protein binding domain can bind the retinoblastoma (Rb), p107 and p130 pocket proteins and is localized in the transactivation domain of E2F1-5 (Figure 1); therefore, Rb interaction masks the E2F transactivation domain and consequently represses expression of the respective E2F target genes [35]. The protein level of activator E2Fs fluctuate during the cell cycle and reach their highest expression at the G₁/S transition point. In contrast, the protein level of repressed in quiescent cells. Furthermore, the C-terminus of E2F6-E2F8 does not encode for a pocket binding domain, thus their repressor activity is independent of pocket proteins [35].

In animal cells, Rb is unphosphorylated in quiescent cells, gets hypo-phosphorylated

by cyclin D-CDK4/6 complexes at the restriction point, and hyper-phosphorylated by cyclin E-CDK2 in the late G₁ phase. Unless Rb is hyper-phosphorylated it can bind E2F transcription factors and recruit histone-modifying enzymes (e.g. histone deacetylase, HDAC) that condense the chromatin and repress E2F target genes. Upon hyperphosphorylation of Rb, the interacting E2F transcription factors are released and initiate transcription of the relevant genes. The accumulating released activator E2Fs recruit coactivators (e.g. histone acetyltransferase, HAT) to specific promoters, therefore enable the transcription of S phase promoting genes by loosening the chromatin structure [35, 39].

The expression of E2F target genes is oscillatory and is regulated at several levels to prevent abnormal cell cycle progression. Transcriptionally they are negatively regulated by feedback mechanisms involving E2Fs and c-Myc, post-transcriptionally by microRNAs, and post-translationally by phosphorylation in several organisms. Transcriptional activity of the synthesized pool of E2Fs is regulated either indirectly through phosphorylation of Rb by cyclin-CDK complexes or more drastically by degradation in the proteasome. During S/G₂ E2Fs are polyubiquitinated by SKP-CUL1 complexes, while in mitosis the degradation is achieved by the anaphase-promoting complex [40].

1.2.1.1. Plant E2Fs

Plants also have E2F-Rb pathway and in *Arabidopsis thaliana* six E2F family members, two DPs (AtDPA and AtDPB) and one Rb-related protein (AtRBR1) have been described [41]. AtE2FA/B/C (also known as AtE2F3/1/2) have a similar domain organization as human E2F1-5 with their DNA-binding and dimerization domains, whereas E2FD/E/F (also known as DP-E2F-Like, DEL proteins) can be considered as orthologs of mammalian atypical E2F7/8 with their duplicated DNA-binding domain and lack of dimerization domain (Figure 1). These atypical AtE2Fs autonomously bind DNA, but are not able to transactivate, and play role in cell elongation and endocycle regulation [42, 43].

AtDPA and AtDPB are closely related to human DP2 and DP1 and have a similar domain organization; although, based on the phylogenetic analysis they form a separate branch. In contrast to animal DPs, the plant DP dimerization domain, but not the DNA-binding domain is required for heterodimerization with E2Fs [41]. AtE2FA/B/C can only

bind to DNA if they heterodimerize with AtDPA or AtDPB [44]. Maize studies resulted in similar findings, i.e. E2F transcription factors that form heterodimers with AtDPB have a higher affinity for DNA [45]. According to yeast two-hybrid experiments, AtE2FA and AtE2FB preferably interact with AtDPA and heterodimerization increases transactivation activity, moreover AtDPA binding masks the NES located in the E2F heterodimerization domain. In case of AtE2FC, interaction neither with AtDPA nor AtDPB influenced transactivation or affect AtE2FC localization [43].

Remarkably, plants have at least 92 different cyclin-CDK complex variants. AtRBR1 is phosphorylated and negatively regulated through phosphorylation by the complexes formed by plant D-type cyclins and AtCDKA;1 at G₁/S transition [46]. All typical plant E2Fs were shown to interact with AtRBR1, but the complexes are involved in different regulatory networks [47].

Plant E2Fs were shown to have functions in a wide range of processes and in contrast to animal counterparts the *Arabidopsis* E2Fs cannot be classified as activators or repressors [48]. Moreover, the E2F-DP-RBR pathway is active at both G_1/S and G_2/M transitions in plants. This finding was supported by the identification of mitosis-specific activator motif involved in G_2/M transition in AtDPA and AtE2FB and the co-purification of the mitotic AtCDKB1;1 with AtRBR1 [46, 48].

Expression of AtE2FA is highest in late G₁ phase and is required for S phase progression [49]. AtE2FA/AtDPA heterodimer overexpression activates cell division and endocycle and inhibits plant development and growth [43, 50, 51]. In accordance, AtE2FA silencing results in decreased mitosis and endocycle activity and polyploidy [47]. The AtE2FA-AtRBR1 complex represses genes required for endoreduplication and cell differentiation [47]. Furthermore, AtE2FA is also involved in the maintenance of genomic integrity since upon DNA damage AtRBR1 and AtE2FA are recruited to γH2AX foci [52].

Although AtE2FA and AtE2FB are mainly present in dividing cells and postmitotic cells, respectively, the two transcription factors seem to have overlapping functions since single E2F mutant plants are viable, but double knock out plants cannot survive [53]. Overexpression of AtE2FB leads to the expression of mitosis related AtCYCB1;1 and AtCDKB1;1, indicating its role in the regulation of the G₂/M transition [48]. These data are corroborated by the finding that AtE2FB/AtDPA overexpression stimulates mitosis

and inhibits endocycle. AtE2FB-AtRBR1 complexes prevent endoreplication and cell differentiation in young leaves [53].

AtE2FC has a shortened transactivation domain and its function in cell cycle regulation has not been fully revealed yet. It was described that AtE2FC downregulates the early S phase gene AtCDC6 and its increased and decreased expression activates the endocycle and mitosis, respectively [54]. Somehow contradictory, the AtE2FC/AtDPA complex is involved in photomorphogenesis and metabolism but not in cell cycle regulation [51].

1.2.1.2. DNA binding

It was recently reported by chromatin immunoprecipitation experiments that mammalian E2Fs can also regulate genes with promoter sequences other than the strict consensus TTTSSCGC (S=G/C) motif. Strikingly, Rabinovich et al. demonstrated that E2F1, E2F4 and E2F6 bind primarily to non-consensus motifs *in vivo*, and transactivation of target genes is assumed to be mediated in cooperation with other transcription factors. In contrast, under *in vitro* circumstances, E2F1-6 heterodimerization with DPs are required to strongly bind to the consensus E2F motif, and the binding is abolished if key residues are changed in these sequences. The difference in binding specificity between *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments could be explained by regulation through interactions with other proteins or certain PTMs, thus in some cases *in vitro* E2F site binding experiments might not be biologically relevant. E2F7 and E2F8 can form homodimers or heterodimers between each other to bind DNA without DPs [55].

Almost one-quarter of *Arabidopsis* genes contain the experimentally verified E2Fbinding site WTTSSCGSS (W=A/T, S=C/G) which is slightly longer than the mammalian consensus sequence, and certain genes require further *cis*-acting elements for activation by AtE2Fs. As was the case with mammalian findings, multiple E2F target genes do not encompass the mentioned consensus sequence and their recruitment is mediated by interactions with other transcription factors [51, 56].

1.2.2. γ -Tubulin

 γ -Tubulin was first discovered in 1989 in *Aspergillus nidulans* by Oakley and Oakley [57] and its involvement in MT function as a MT minus-end nucleator and nuclear division (M/G₁ transition) regulation was soon suggested [58, 59]. α -, β - and γ -tubulin evolved from a common ancestor and are found in all examined eukaryotes, whereas the

 δ , ε, ζ, and η tubulin isoforms represent another branch of the tubulin phylogenetic tree and are not found in plants and yeast [60]. The two γ-tubulin genes found in *Arabidopsis thaliana* share 98% amino acid sequence identity [61] and have redundant functions [62]. In comparison to the human counterpart, plant and yeast γ-tubulin contain a disordered domain forming 20 extra amino acids at the C-terminus (Figure 2) [63].

The N-terminally located GTPase domain comprises the conserved GDP/GTPbinding site (GGTGSG amino acid sequence motif) in α -, β - and γ -tubulin (Figure 2) [60]. During polymerization of α/β -tubulin dimers into MTs, the GTP bound to β -tubulin but not to α -tubulin is hydrolysed. GTP bound by α -tubulin is non-exchangeable and the conserved glutamic acid residue (Glu254) of α -tubulin is essential for GTP hydrolysis in β -tubulin. This residue is lysine in β -tubulin and either Gly or Ser in γ -tubulins implying that γ -tubulin monomer contacts might not involve GTP hydrolysis [64–66].

The X-ray crystal structure determination of GTP- and GDP-bound monomeric human γ -tubulin showed that – alike other GTPases – the protein conformation is not changed in response to nucleotide-binding and both GTP and GDP are bound with similar nanomolar affinity [67, 68]. GTPase activity of γ -tubulin has not been demonstrated, but data obtained by yeast experiments suggest that GTP-bound γ -tubulin has a higher affinity for α/β -tubulin dimers and α -tubulin might induce GTP hydrolysis in γ -tubulin [69].

 γ -Tubulin comprises a helix-loop-helix domain which is common in DNA-binding proteins and a conserved bipartite NLS was also identified in the loop. The NLS comprises two surface-exposed stretches of basic and acidic amino acids (RKx(D/E)xFx(D/E)xF, residues 399-418, Figure 2) and the mutational analysis revealed that it is essential for nuclear localization of γ -tubulin [70]. Although putative NES is also predicted in γ -tubulin [71, 72], the export mechanism is currently unknown, e.g. treatment with a nuclear export inhibitor did not lead to human γ -tubulin accumulation in the nucleus [73].

Ran GTPase and exportin co-purification with γ -tubulin in *Arabidopsis* extract hints that transport of MT-associated proteins and chromatin-associated factors on the nucleus-cytoplasm pathway might be important in the coordination of MT dynamics and chromatin organization [74].

1.2.2.1. Microtubule nucleation and polymerization

In eukaryotes, γ -tubulin and several γ -tubulin complex proteins (GCPs) form the

cytosolic γ -tubulin ring complex (γ TuRC) which could be found in microtubule organizing centres (MTOCs) and regulate the association of α/β -tubulin dimers with the growing MTs [75].

Besides MT nucleation from canonical MTOCs such as the centrosome, MT nucleation also occurs on existing MTs, membranes and chromatin and contributes to the assembly of the mitotic spindle in centrosomal and acentrosomal cells. A key player that recruits γ TuRC to nucleate new MTs from pre-existing MTs is the eight-subunit augmin complex that is responsible for the mitotic spindle localization of γ -tubulin and formation of centrosome-independent MTs in mitotic and meiotic spindles [76–78]. Golgi is a membrane-directed MT nucleation site [79] and interaction of γ -tubulin with the Golgi membrane protein p115 is required for the maintenance of Golgi structure and late mitotic spindle [80].

In acentrosomal plant cells nucleation of MTs takes place at scattered sites in the spindle, phragmoplast and interphase cortical arrays, and on the outer nuclear membrane. γ -Tubulin enables the formation of membrane-bound and MT-bound MTOCs and the large membrane-associated γ -tubulin complexes play a role in MT nucleation from dispersed sites [63, 81–83].

Human and plant γ -tubulin preserved the filament and fibrillar network forming capability of prokaryotic tubulins and several large complexes of γ -tubulin that do not have a function in MT nucleation were found in different eukaryotic organisms and the oligomerization and polymerization of γ -tubulin was shown both in the cytosol and the nuclear compartment [63, 84–88].

In mammalian cells, the smaller molecular weight γ -tubulin strings (γ -strings) connect the nuclear and cytosolic pools of γ -tubulin across the nuclear envelope. At high γ -tubulin concentrations during the G₁ phase, large molecular weight γ -tubules can form in a GTPdependent manner and are assumed to serve as the cytosolic γ -tubulin pools. At the G₁/S transition, this pool is depleted and γ -tubulin starts to accumulate in the nucleus and simultaneously enriches in the pericentriolar material to assist in the centriole duplication [36, 86, 89, 90]. Rosselló et al. proposed that cellular γ -tubulin forms a meshwork that regulates the G₁/S transition, mitotic progression, and cytokinesis and might aid the synchronization of cytosolic and nuclear events during cell division [85].

In comparison to centrosomal animal cells, the acentrosomal plant cells have a larger

amount of γ -tubulin which is distributed at disperse sites and form high molecular mass assemblies (filaments, fibrillar structures) in a cell-cycle-dependent manner. Discrete tubular formations of γ -tubulin were seen in the nucleus and perinuclear regions of nondividing *Arabidopsis* cells. Chumová et al. proposed that polymerization is an intrinsic property of γ -tubulin, short filaments might function as seeds for MT nucleation and the double-stranded stable filaments might have scaffolding or sequestration functions [63].

1.2.2.2. Nuclear functions

In mammals, γ -tubulin can interact with lamins and this interaction might be connected to nuclear functions of γ -tubulin [36, 84]. Lamins and the associated proteins are localised to the inner surface of the nuclear membrane, characterized by dynamic interactions with chromatin, and play role in chromatin organization, transcription, replication, and DNA repair. Although plant cells do not have lamin encoding genes, functionally analogue proteins referred to as plamina were found in land plants. Similarly to animal lamins, the plamina can form filaments and mediate nuclear processes such as the size and form determination of the nucleus and organization of heterochromatin [74, 91].

It is known that MTs are involved in sequestering DNA damage responsive proteins in the cytoplasm. Upon DNA damage, the needed proteins use MT motor proteins as cargo vehicles for transportation into the nucleus [70]. The centrosomes are also involved in the DNA damage response pathway and genotoxic stress highly influences centrosomal organization [92]. γ-tubulin is a truly multifunctional protein, it seems to participate in the nuclear targeting of microtubular motor proteins transported signalling molecules [77]. Accordingly, γ-tubulin present in the nucleus was shown to associate with proteins associated with DNA damage response [70, 73, 93–97] and stress response MAPKs [98]. It interacts with DNA repair protein Rad51 during S phase and in response to DNA damage which implies its function in DNA repair by homologous recombination [93]. γ-Tubulin could translocate into nucleoli as well to interact with CDK5 regulatory subunitassociated protein 3 (C53) DNA damage G₂/M checkpoint protein [73]. Furthermore, it co-immunoprecipitates with Ataxia telangiectasia-mutated and Rad3-related homolog (ATR) and breast cancer type 1 susceptibility protein (BRCA1) in the nucleus and accumulates at the centrosome following DNA damage [94, 99].

In animal cells, nuclear y-tubulin forms a complex with E2F1 transcription factor and

C-terminal DNA-binding domain (residues 334-452, Figure 2) of γ -tubulin is required for this interaction. The binding of γ -tubulin competes out DP and leads to the repression of E2F target genes at the G₁/S checkpoint. Hence, γ -tubulin regulates S phase progression by ensuring that the centrosomes and DNA are replicated only once during the cell cycle [36]. Furthermore, the γ -tubulin/E2F complex can also bind to the promoters of γ -tubulin and Rb, and γ -tubulin and Rb reciprocally negatively regulate their expression. Lack of Rb results in high levels of γ -tubulin, while Rb overexpression was observed in γ -tubulin mutants. Depletion of γ -tubulin is lethal for Rb deficient cells which makes γ -tubulin a potential cancer therapy target [95, 100].

Moreover, mammalian γ -tubulin binds to mitochondrial DNA and this binding was increased by mutating the NLS of γ -tubulin. It was suggested that γ -tubulin might aid synchronization of mitochondria-related gene expression with mitochondrial replication [101]. Mutation of GTPase domain localized Cys13 to Ala disrupts the γ -tubulin meshwork and decreases the mitochondrial respiratory capacity. It was also proposed that the intact GTPase domain is essential for the nuclear functions of γ -tubulin [100]. Reduced levels of γ -tubulin cause increased levels of the mitochondria-specific DNA polymerase γ during S phase progression [101].

The relatively high amount of γ -tubulin in acentrosomal plant cells makes easier the characterization of nuclear pools of this protein [81, 87]. Plant γ -tubulin is present in the nucleus at G₁/S and G₂/M transitions during the cell cycle and accumulates at the centromere region before the disappearance of the nuclear membrane and interacts with DNA [87, 88].

γ-Tubulin is important for the coordination of late mitotic events and cytokinesis in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, *Aspergillus nidulans* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* [82, 102, 103]. It also has a role in the inactivation of the anaphase-promoting complex after mitotic exit and between late mitosis and S phase [104].

1.2.2.3. Post-translational modifications

The PTMs of γ -tubulin such as phosphorylation and monoubiquitination contribute to its cell-cycle dependent regulation.

The chromatin and centrosome localized mammalian brain-specific serine/threonineprotein kinase 1 (SadB) takes part in the cell cycle by regulating mitotic entry and centrosome biogenesis. In the early S phase, the human SadB interacts with and phosphorylates γ -tubulin on Ser131. The phosphorylated Ser is part of the S-X-S motif (S129-D130-S131, Figure 2) that is required for the γ -tubulin lateral interactions and might stabilize γ -tubulin in a polymerized form at the original centricle to inhibit the *de novo* centricle formation in other parts of the cell; thus, it is presumed that Ser131 phosphorylation controls centrosome homeostasis. Accordingly, a transient increase of phosphorylated Ser131 levels can be observed in the late G₁ phase, G₁/S transition and S phase [105].

Phosphorylation of Ser131 facilitates further SadB-dependent phosphorylation of Ser385, an amino acid residue in the proximity of the NLS of γ -tubulin (Figure 2). Ser385 phosphorylation leads to the relocation of γ -tubulin to the nuclear compartment. It was hypothesized that Ser385 phosphorylation might induce a conformational change resulting in the release of γ -tubulin from the γ TuRC complex and unmasking its NLS [36, 106].

The closest plant homologues of human SadB kinases are the AtKIN10 and AtKIN11 kinases of the sucrose nonfermenting-1 (SNF1)-related protein kinases (SnRK1) subfamily and are involved in the regulation of cell division [107]. Based on γ -tubulin sequence homology, it is presumed that AtKIN10 could phosphorylate γ -tubulin Ser131 in plant cells (Figure 2), therefore might also regulate the centrosome duplication [108]. This hypothesis is supported by the finding that AtKIN10 and γ -tubulin are colocalized [109]. However, the Ser385 corresponding phosphorylatele amino acid could not be found in plant γ -tubulin, hence double phosphorylation by AtKIN10 is unlikely (Figure 2) [107].

The region around human γ -tubulin Ser364 is highly conserved and holds a CDK1 phosphorylation consensus motif (S/T-P, Figure 2) [110]. It was found in *Tetrahymena thermophila* that the corresponding Ser360 phosphorylation state influences γ -tubulin nuclear and cortical functions and mutations that prevent Ser360 dephosphorylation are lethal [111]. In budding yeast, γ -tubulin is hyperphosphorylated during G₁ phase, and dephosphorylation of the conserved S360 CDK1 phosphorylation site and Tyr445 is required for mitosis [112, 113]. Tyr445 is localized in the disordered C-terminal region of *Arabidopsis* (Tyr446) and yeast γ -tubulin (Figure 2). Disordered regions are known to be general hubs of protein interaction networks and susceptible to charge-altering PTMs [114].

MT nucleation activity is increased in early mitosis during mitotic spindle assembly and gradually declines as cells exit mitosis. The MT nucleation activity is regulated by a panel of different mechanisms, e.g. ubiquitination of γ -tubulin by BRCA1 [97] and deubiquitination by BRCA1-associated protein-1 (BAP) [115]. Under *in vitro* circumstances, BRCA1 can ubiquitinate K48 and K344 residues of purified mammalian γ -tubulin (Figure 2). Centrosomal localization of BRCA1 can be observed throughout the cell cycle and γ -tubulin K48 ubiquitination is required to prevent centrosome reduplication in living cells and both BRCA1 inhibition and γ -tubulin K48R mutation lead to centrosome amplification [97].

 γ -tubulin activation by CDK1 and association with BRCA1 is required for transportation of γ -tubulin and BRCA1/ γ -tubulin complexes to the MTs and into the nucleus, respectively [70].

It was also described that knocking out BRCA1 results in aberrant γ -tubulin accumulation at the mitotic centrosomes [116]. Another E3 ubiquitin ligase, Cullin-4A also co-localizes with γ -tubulin at the centrosome region and polyubiquitinates γ -tubulin *in vitro* [117]. BRCA1 homologue was found in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and shown to have a role in cell cycle regulation and DNA repair as in the case of the mammalian BRCA1, but its connection with γ -tubulin has not been described [118].



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the domain organization and important PTMs of human and Arabidopsis thaliana (At) γ -tubulin. The GTPase domain, GTP binding motif, DNA binding domain and bipartite NLS are boxed. Amino acid residues in the bipartite NLS that differ in plant γ -tubulin are marked with green letters, 'x' stands for any amino acid. Phosphorylated and ubiquitinated amino acid residues are marked by red and blue letters, respectively. Numbering represents the conserved amino acid position in the two sequences. The domains and PTMs were mapped based on UniProt [119] and [36, 70, 97, 105, 106, 108, 110, 114].

2. Objectives

The goal of my doctoral studies was the functional analysis of diverse *Arabidopsis thaliana* proteins synthesized by wheat germ-based *in vitro* translation and enhancement of the available translation vectors to produce proteins of various tags for specific needs.

AtPIN1 protein is a plasma membrane-localized auxin efflux carrier with two transmembrane domains. These two domains encompass a hydrophilic loop which is highly divergent between the PIN proteins. The subcellular localization and auxin transport polarity of AtPIN1 is regulated by PTMs of the cytoplasm-oriented hydrophilic loop by several kinases, but our knowledge regarding the involvement of MAPKs in this phosphorylation is limited.

The original pEU3-NII vector has gone through several improvements to increase its applicability, such as the addition of a LIC site, affinity tags – the His₆- and GST-tag –, and a TEV protease recognition site for tagless protein release. Further improvements of the LIC harbouring vectors were required for its diversified application in techniques such as pull-down assays, electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA) and Amplified Luminescent Proximity Homogenous Assay Screen (AlphaScreen).

 γ -Tubulin is an intriguing protein. Initially, it was only considered a protein with essential roles in MT nucleation from the centrosome as a component of the well-known γ TuRC. In the last 20 years, it has become clear that γ -tubulin is rather a multifunctional protein with roles in the regulation of plus-end MT dynamics, DNA damage, S phase progression and mitotic exit.

The specific aims of my PhD thesis were:

- 1) Characterization of *Arabidopsis* PIN1 hydrophilic loop (PIN1-HL) phosphorylation by AtMPK4 and AtMPK6.
- Modification of LIC-harbouring pEU3-NII vectors to encode for additional affinity tags.
- 3) Functional analysis of *Arabidopsis* γ -tubulin; particularly, analysing its role in the cell cycle regulation through interaction with E2Fs.

3. Methods

The coding sequence of γ -tubulin (AtTUBG1) was inserted into the pEU3-NII-GLICNot, pEU3-NII-HLICNot, pEU3-NII-HxHLICNot, and pEU3-NII-FLAGLICNot vectors by LIC as described previously for translation of γ -tubulin with GST-, His₆-, His₁₂-, and FLAG-tag, respectively [120]. His₁₂- γ -tubulin was co-translated with GST or GST-AtE2FA by using 1:1 mRNA ratio in the translation mixtures.

Bilayer translation reactions were carried out according to Nagy et al. [120]. The translation reaction was miniaturized for screening purposes, i.e. mini-translations were prepared in a 384-well plate (AlphaPlate - 384 SW, Perkin Elmer). 1 mg/ml creatinekinase (Roche) stock solution was diluted 7.25 times in 1X SUB-AMIX (CellFree Sciences). The translation mixture consisting of 0.9 µl WEPRO, 0.4 µl mRNA and 0.5 µl diluted creatine-kinase was underlaid to 18 µl 1X SUB-AMIX. After 20-hour incubation at 22°C, the target protein containing total translation mixtures were transferred to Eppendorf tubes and complemented with water to the initial 19.8 µl volume to compensate for the modest evaporation. 8 µl aliquots of the translation and co-translation mixtures were subjected to 13000 rpm centrifugation for 15 minutes, the supernatants were transferred to new tubes and the precipitates were dissolved in PBS. All samples were heated in sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) sample buffer complemented with dithiothreitol for 5 minutes at 95°C. The samples were separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membrane, and probed with antibodies specific for the affinity tags (1:2000 rabbit anti-GST, Upstate Biotechnology; 1:5000 goat anti-rabbit, Cell Signaling; peroxidase (POD)-conjugated 1:2000 mouse anti-polyHis-POD, Sigma; 1:1000 mouse anti-FLAG M2, Sigma). Expected molecular weights of expressed proteins: His₆-y-tubulin 55.3 kDa, His₁₂-ytubulin 57.7 kDa, FLAG-γ-tubulin 55.4 kDa, GST 26 kDa, GST-AtE2FA 78.6 kDa, GSTγ-tubulin 79.9 kDa.

4. Results

4.1. Kinase assay with in vitro translated wild type and mutant AtPIN1-HL

The pEU3-NII wheat germ expression vector was previously modified in our laboratory to encode for LIC site, TEV protease cleavage motif and N-terminal His₆-tag and GST-tag [12]. These vectors were successfully used in several *in vitro* plant and human protein functional assays by our research group [27, 52, 121, 122]. Various *in vitro* kinase assays were also implemented by using pre-activated MPKs.

We set out to identify the amino acid residues of the hydrophilic loop of *Arabidopsis* PIN1 auxin transporter (AtPIN1-HL) which could be phosphorylated by active AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 kinases. Phosphorylation-dependent activation of both MPKs is a two-step process; thus, constitutively active MPK mutant cannot be generated by replacing the Thr and Tyr residues found in the catalytic domain TEY motif with phosphomimetic amino acids [26]. Because MKKs have a different phosphorylation site, it is possible to create their constitutively active gain-of-function variant (GOF-MKKs). Due to the open nature of *in vitro* translation, MPK activation can be achieved by co-translation with the appropriate upstream GOF-MKK.

To this end, His₆-labelled AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 were co-translated with GOF AtMKK1 and AtMKK4, respectively, by mixing the mRNAs coding for the respective MKK:MPK in a 1:10 ratio. Next, activities of the purified MPKs were confirmed by in vitro kinase assay using myelin basic protein artificial substrate (data not shown). The translated putative substrates, AtPIN1-HL and its non-phosphorylatable mutant (PIN1-3A) – in which three Thr amino acid residues were mutated to alanines (T227A, T248A, T286A) – hold an N-terminal GST-tag, therefore were purified by using glutathionecoated beads. The bead-bound AtPIN1 substrates were λ -phosphatase treated prior to the kinase assay to eliminate the phosphorylation that was caused by endogenous kinases of the WGE [123]. The dephosphorylated substrates were incubated with activated AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 in the presence of $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ -ATP. Incorporation of radiolabelled phosphate was analysed by autoradiography. We did not detect any background phosphorylation when the bead-bound substrates were incubated without activated MPKs (Figure 3). Although both MPKs phosphorylated the wild type AtPIN1-HL, the extent of phosphorylation was slightly lower in the presence of AtMPK6. Phosphorylation by AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 was equally diminished when the non-phosphorylatable mutant

was used as a substrate indicating that these three residues are indeed the target sites of the applied kinases. Next, a larger amount of AtMPK6-phosphorylated AtPIN1-HL was produced and analysed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) to confirm the specific phosphorylation of the three Thr amino acid residues (data not shown).



Figure 3. In vitro kinase assay with wild type and non-phosphorylatable mutant of PIN1-HL. GST-tagged PIN1-HL (PIN1) and T227A, T248A, T286A mutant GST-PIN1-HL (PIN1-3A) were *in vitro* translated and affinity purified by glutathione-coated beads. The bead-bound substrates were either incubated without kinases (C, control) or with affinity-purified, activated AtMPK6 and AtMPK4, respectively, in the presence of [γ -³²P]-ATP. The samples were separated with SDS-PAGE, visualized by Coomassie Blue staining and incorporation of radiolabelled phosphate was detected with autoradiography.

4.2. Modified pEU3 vectors for wheat germ cell-free protein expression

We aimed to investigate the cell-cycle functions of γ -tubulin by analysing *in vitro* protein-protein and protein-DNA interactions. Because these experiments demand several putative interacting partners, it was a prerequisite to possess a toolbox with several affinity tags from which we could choose the most appropriate when required. We set out to expand the repertoire of WGE CFPS vectors to allow the translation of target proteins with His₁₂-tag, FLAG-tag, HALO-tag, or double-tags (N-terminal GST-tag and C-terminal AviTag or His₆-tag). My work was to design and construct the modified His₁₂-tag and FLAG-tag coding vectors and to test the expression of the tagged proteins. In the following, only the His₁₂-tag and FLAG-tag harbouring vectors will be presented.

The His₆-tag is an extensively used tag, but the coordinating histidine residues have a relatively low binding affinity to metal ions and the histidine-selective antibodies are notoriously promiscuous. Khan et al. presented an *E. coli* His₁₂-tagging expression vector that provided improved binding and purification of tagged proteins on nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid (Ni-NTA) surfaces and detection [15]. Since sensitive and specific

detection is a prerequisite in pull-down assays, we constructed a vector suitable for *in vitro* translation of proteins with N-terminal His₁₂-tag, comprising two His₆ tags separated by a linker sequence (Figure 4A), designated pEU3-NII-HxHLICNot. The vector was tested by insertion of the coding sequence of an *Arabidopsis thaliana* MPK (AtMPK9) by LIC. Both His₆-AtMPK9 and His₁₂-AtMPK9 were produced by WGE and subsequently purified by immobilized metal affinity chromatography with Co-NTA beads. The affinity-purified proteins were separated on SDS-PAGE and analysed by Coomassie Blue staining (Figure 4B) and Western blot (Figure 4C). Both proteins were successfully synthesized and purified with Co-NTA beads; we observed only a slightly improved binding of His₁₂-tagged AtMPK9 to Co-NTA beads, and – contrary to our expectations – no increase in protein purity (Figure 4B).



Figure 4. Immobilized metal affinity chromatography purification and Western blot of His₆**-AtMPK9 and His**₁₂**-AtMPK9. (A)** The schematic amino acid sequence of the His₁₂-tagging vector coding region. **(B)** *In vitro* translated and Co-NTA purified His₆-AtMPK9 and His₁₂-AtMPK9 proteins were separated with SDS-PAGE and visualized by Coomassie Blue staining. Purified AtMPK9 proteins are shown with asterisks. **(C)** Serial five-fold dilutions of total translation mixtures were studied by Western blot. The membranes were probed with anti-polyHis-POD and anti-MPK9C antibodies, respectively. **(B,C)** Expected molecular weights of expressed proteins: His₆-AtMPK9 60.4 kDa, His₁₂-AtMPK9 62.8 kDa. The molecular weight markers are shown in kDa. For Western blot analysis, we prepared five-fold dilutions of the AtMPK9 containing total translation mixtures. Detection of the proteins by anti-polyHis-POD antibody resulted in at least an order of magnitude increased sensitivity with double labelling in comparison to the conventional His₆-tagged AtMPK9. The equal loading of the AtMPK9 was demonstrated by using anti-AtMPK9C antibody (Figure 4C).



Figure 5. Western blot analysis of crude WGE and FLAG-tagged AtMPK9. (A) An aliquot of WGE (W7240) was run on TGX Stain-Free gel and imaged before transfer by UV light (bottom). The proteins transferred to the membrane were probed with anti-polyHis-POD (lane H), anti-GST (lane G), and anti-FLAG (lane F) antibodies (upper). (B) The schematic amino acid sequence of the FLAG-tagging vector coding region. (C) Total translation mixtures containing FLAG-AtMPK9 and His₆-AtMPK9 were separated on SDS-PAGE and analysed by Western blot with anti-FLAG and anti-polyHis-POD antibodies. The most prominently detected endogenous wheat germ protein by anti-polyHis-POD is indicated with an asterisk. Expected molecular weights: FLAG-AtMPK9 60.6 kDa, His₆-AtMPK9 60.4 kDa. The molecular weight markers are shown in kDa.

The other tag that was introduced into the WGE CFPS vectors is the merely 8 amino acid long FLAG epitope tag (Figure 5B). Its high aspartic acid content confers hydrophilicity; thus, the tag is usually found on the surface of the fusion protein and facilitates antibody binding. This amino acid stretch is rarely found in nature; therefore, the antibodies produced against the tag are greatly discriminating and make this tag suitable for highly specific detection. First, we separated crude total translation mixtures on SDS-PAGE and compared the Western blot signals of anti-polyHis-POD, anti-GST, and anti-FLAG antibodies, respectively. Equal loading was demonstrated by StainFree imaging of the gel before transfer (Figure 5A, bottom). ECL analysis has shown that the anti-polyHis-POD and anti-GST antibodies could decorate several proteins in the WGE, while the anti-FLAG antibody did not generate a signal, not even after extended exposure (Figure 5A, upper). This observation prompted us to construct the pEU3-NII-FLAGLICNot vector with N-terminal FLAG-tag and we tested it by insertion of AtMPK9 as before. We translated and compared Western blot signals of His₆- and FLAG-tagged AtMPK9 containing total translation mixtures with anti-polyHis-POD and anti-FLAG antibody was highly specific and detected a single band of FLAG-AtMPK9, whereas with anti-polyHis-POD we detected an approximately 35 kDa endogenous wheat germ protein beside His₆-AtMPK9 (Figure 5C).

4.3. In vitro translation of γ-tubulin with different affinity tags

It has been described that γ -tubulin can be present at different polymerization levels; thus, to assess the ratio of monomeric γ -tubulin in the case of the WGE translated γ tubulin, we produced the GST-, His₆-, His₁₂-, and FLAG-tag variants of the protein. Following centrifugation, the supernatant containing the soluble proteins was separated from the precipitate containing the insoluble proteins. The samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by Western blot with the appropriate antibodies. The highest precipitate:soluble ratio was detected in the case of His₆- and His₁₂-tagged γ -tubulin, whereas the use of FLAG-tag and GST-tag enhanced γ -tubulin solubility (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Effect of various affinity tags on *in vitro* translated γ -tubulin solubility. Total translation mixtures containing GST-, His₆-, His₁₂- and FLAG- γ -tubulin were centrifuged and the precipitated (prec.) and soluble (sol.) fractions were separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by Western blot with anti-FLAG, anti-polyHis-POD and anti-GST antibodies. Expected molecular weights: GST- γ -tubulin 79.9 kDa, His₆- γ -tubulin 55.3 kDa, His₁₂- γ -tubulin 57.7 kDa, FLAG- γ -tubulin 55.4 kDa. The molecular weight markers are shown in kDa.

Of note, similarly to our results with AtMPK9, we have seen improved detection of His₁₂tagged γ -tubulin compared to its His₆-tagged form under the same conditions (data not shown).

In another experiment, we co-translated His₁₂- γ -tubulin with GST and GST-AtE2FA, respectively, by adding equal amounts of *in vitro* synthesized mRNA to the translation reactions. When γ -tubulin was co-translated with the GST-tagged putative interaction partner AtE2FA, γ -tubulin solubility was increased compared to when was translated alone or co-translated with the negative control GST (Figure 7). The yield of the expressed His₁₂- γ -tubulin was decreased with the increased size of the protein co-translated, probably due to the engagement of the translational machinery in the co-translation of a larger protein (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Effect of co-translation on His₁₂- γ -tubulin solubility. Total translation mixture containing His₁₂- γ -tubulin and co-translations containing His₁₂- γ -tubulin and GST or GST-E2FA were centrifuged and the precipitated (prec.) and soluble (sol.) fractions were compared. The samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by Western blot with anti-polyHis-POD and anti-GST antibodies. The non-specifically decorated endogenous wheat germ protein is indicated with an asterisk. Expected molecular weights: GST 26.0 kDa, GST-E2FA 78.6 kDa, His₁₂- γ -tubulin 57.7 kDa. The molecular weight markers are shown in kDa.

These results encouraged us to use *in vitro* translated γ -tubulin for our interaction experiments and to use co-translation whenever possible. In most cases, following the

translation reaction, the translation mixtures were centrifuged and only the soluble protein fractions containing supernatants were used.

4.4. γ-Tubulin interaction with E2Fs

Animal and plant γ -tubulin nuclear localization was shown by several research groups and cell cycle-related functions of γ -tubulin were also suggested. In animal cells, it is known that γ-tubulin interacts with E2F1 to regulate cell proliferation [36]. We aimed to test plant y-tubulin interactions with the three classical E2F transcription factors AtE2FA, AtE2FB and AtE2FC. To this end, His₆-tagged γ-tubulin was co-translated with GSTtagged E2Fs and GST pull-down assay with glutathione beads showed that all three E2Fs can bind y-tubulin (Figure 8A, left block). Next, we confirmed that all three in vitro translated E2Fs can interact with AtDPA and AtDPB (data not shown), then we used His₆-AtDP-containing total translation mixtures to check whether they can disrupt the previously formed y-tubulin-AtE2F complexes. The addition of AtDP proteins did not result in the detection of non-complex forming unbound γ -tubulin, suggesting that even an excess of AtDPs could not displace y-tubulin from the preformed y-tubulin-AtE2F complexes (Figure 8A, right block). Although the data is not shown, we also confirmed that His₆-AtDPs do not bind to glutathione beads non-specifically and only interact very weakly with y-tubulin in comparison to AtE2Fs. Based on these results, bead binding of AtDPs can be explained either by heterotrimer complex formation, i.e. γ -tubulin-AtE2F-AtDP complexes, or interaction with bead-bound E2Fs which are not bound by γ -tubulin. This latter scenario could be assumed since it cannot be excluded that following cotranslation, the E2F proteins are in molar excess compared to γ -tubulin.

Because γ -tubulin is reported to be a sticky protein, in a similar pull-down assay setup we assessed its interaction with another transcription factor, the cell fate-determining Myb-related protein 66 (AtMYB66). For this assay, we used His₁₂-tagged γ -tubulin that can be detected with high sensitivity, as shown previously. We demonstrated that the His₁₂- γ -tubulin-GST-AtE2FA complex is not disrupted even under stringent (500 mM NaCl) washing conditions, while His₁₂- γ -tubulin was not found to be associated with AtMYB66-coated glutathione beads (Figure 8B). Collectively, these results indicate that γ -tubulin interaction with the studied E2F proteins is highly specific and the interaction with DPs does not disrupt the E2F- γ -tubulin complexes.



Figure 8. γ -Tubulin specifically interacts with E2Fs and this interaction is not affected by DPs. (A) His₆- γ -tubulin was co-translated with GST-tagged E2FA, E2FB, and E2FC, and GST pull-down assay using glutathione beads was performed. Translation mixtures containing His₆-DPA and His₆-DPB were added to the isolated complexes to investigate whether DPs can disrupt the preformed E2F- γ -tubulin interactions. (B) Translated His₁₂- γ -tubulin was incubated with GST-MYB66 and GST-E2FA transcription factors, and the complexes were isolated by glutathione beads. The nonspecifically bound proteins were washed off with 150 mM or 500 mM NaCl. (A,B) The input, bead-bound and unbound proteins were probed with anti-polyHis-POD (upper) and anti-GST (lower). Expected molecular weights of expressed proteins: GST-E2FA 78.6 kDa, GST-E2FB 77.6 kDa, GST-E2FC 70.5 kDa, GST-MYB66 49.6 kDa, His₆-DPA 35.0 kDa, His₆-DPB 44.7 kDa, His₆- γ -tubulin 55.3 kDa. The molecular weight markers are shown in kDa. Of note, the apparent molecular weight of GST-E2FB is higher than the calculated one, thus signal specificity and successful protein translation were also confirmed by anti-E2FB antibody (data not shown).

To elucidate further details of ternary complex formation we aimed at determining the E2F segment responsible for γ -tubulin binding. We truncated E2Fs up to their DNAbinding domains (Figure 1B) and carried out the previously described GST pull-down assay by using the mutant E2F proteins. According to our expectations, in absence of their dimerization domains, the E2F mutants were unable to bind AtDPB (Figure 9A). On the contrary, γ -tubulin could bind to the truncated E2Fs, implying that the E2F dimerization domain is not required for interaction with γ -tubulin (Figure 9B). Altogether, these data hint that γ -tubulin and AtDPB can simultaneously associate with AtE2Fs and form a ternary complex.



Figure 9. Dimerization domain (DD) of E2Fs is not required for γ -tubulin binding. (A) The wild type and truncated (Δ DD) GST-E2Fs were translated *in vitro* and incubated with His₆-DPB-containing translation mixtures. The complexes were isolated by GST pull-down assay using glutathione beads to study if the truncated E2Fs can bind DPB. (B) GST, wild type GST-E2Fs and truncated GST-E2F Δ DDs were translated and incubated with His₆- γ -tubulin. The complexes were isolated by glutathione beads to test if any of the truncated E2Fs can bind γ -tubulin. (A,B) The input and bead-bound proteins were probed with anti-polyHis-POD (upper) and anti-GST (lower). Expected molecular weights of expressed proteins: GST-E2FA 78.6 kDa, GST-E2FA Δ DD 51.9 kDa, GST-E2FB 77.6 kDa, GST-E2FB Δ DD 47.6 kDa, GST-E2FC 70.5 kDa, GST-E2FC Δ DD 52.4 kDa, His₆-DPB 44.7 kDa, His₆- γ -tubulin 55.3 kDa. The molecular weight markers are shown in kDa.

4.5. Analysis of DNA binding capacity by EMSA and AlphaScreen

Following the demonstration of γ -tubulin-AtE2F interactions, we aimed at investigating whether γ -tubulin could bind DNA directly or through the putative ternary E2F-DP- γ -tubulin complex. The proteins were *in vitro* translated and the consensus or mutant E2F-binding site containing DNA sequences were labelled with Cy5 and biotin for EMSA and AlphaScreen, respectively.

First, we tested the DNA-binding capacity of the different proteins with EMSA by incubating individual in vitro translation mixtures containing His6-AtDPB, His6-AtE2FB or GST-y-tubulin or their combinations with Cy5-labelled DNA sequences. We did not detect gel electrophoretic mobility shift of the mutated DNA with any of the proteins or protein combinations. The consensus E2F-binding site holding DNA did not present mobility shift with any of the single proteins or mixtures of γ -tubulin with AtDPB or AtE2FB, but all AtDPB and AtE2FB containing mixtures, including the y-tubulin containing ones, showed a clear extra band on the PAGE indicating DNA-protein interaction (Figure 10A). Furthermore, the co-incubation order of the three proteincontaining mixtures before DNA was added did not affect the previously discussed mobility shift (Figure 10A, last three lanes). Surprisingly, the same shift was detected whether the putative heterodimer or higher molecular weight heterotrimer was bound to the DNA. To unambiguously confirm DNA binding of the E2F-DP-γ-tubulin complex we performed a super-shift EMSA (Figure 10B). To this end, combinations of translation mixtures containing untagged AtDPB, GST-AtE2FA and His6-y-tubulin were added to the E2F-binding site possessing DNA and the mixtures were complemented by antipolyHistidine antibody prior to electrophoresis. Separation of the diverse mixtures provided a strong band for the sample containing all three proteins, implying DNA binding of the heterotrimer.

Finally, we tested the protein-DNA interactions by using AlphaScreen with Streptavidin Donor beads and Nickel chelate Acceptor beads. We used biotinylated DNAs of consensus and mutated E2F-binding sites and the same target protein containing mixtures as described in our EMSA experiment, i.e. His₆-AtDPB, His₆-AtE2FB and GST- γ -tubulin. The strength of the interaction is characterized by the measured luminescence signal intensity in counts per second (cps). In agreement with our EMSA results, we detected only a background signal intensity with the mutated DNA sequence in either

protein combination. The single protein combinations and the AtE2FB and γ -tubulin containing mixture could not bind the wild type DNA. As expected, the mixture of AtE2FB-AtDPB heterodimer and wild type DNA produced a distinctively increased signal (Figure 11). Interestingly, the ternary complex also provided a strong but slightly decreased signal in comparison to the AtE2FB-AtDPB, suggesting that γ -tubulin might modulate DNA binding of the heterodimer (Figure 11).



Cy5-labelled mutated DNA

Figure 10. DNA binding capacity of various combinations of His₆**-DPB, His**₆**-E2FB and GST-γ-tubulin by EMSA. (A)** The target protein containing total translation mixtures were incubated with Cy5-labelled DNA coding for wild type (WT) or mutated E2F-binding site as specified, and the protein-DNA interactions were analysed by native PAGE. In the case of heterotrimers, two proteins were pre-incubated before adding the third protein, as marked by the brackets. The position of the shifted band is indicated by an arrow. **(B)** To demonstrate the E2F-binding site binding capacity of the putative heterotrimer, the target protein containing total translation mixtures were incubated with Cy5-labelled WT DNA, and some samples were supplemented with anti-polyHis antibody. The protein-DNA interactions were analysed by native PAGE. The position of the super-shifted band is indicated by an arrow.



Figure 11. Analysing DNA binding capacity of various combinations of His₆-DPB, His₆-E2FB and GST-γ-tubulin by AlphaScreen. The target protein containing total translation mixtures were mixed in the indicated combinations and incubated with biotinlabelled DNA coding for wild type (WT) or mutated E2F-binding site in the presence of AlphaScreen Streptavidin Donor and Nickel chelate Acceptor beads. The AlphaScreen signal was measured in counts per second (cps).

5. Discussion

Wheat germ cell-free translation of individual eukaryotic proteins with native structure and their application in various assays (e.g. protein-protein and protein-DNA interaction assays, kinase assays, ubiquitination assays) were shown by several research groups, including ours.

Bardóczy et al. demonstrated that the WGE-based *in vitro* translation of plant MPKs outperforms *E. coli* overexpression in terms of *in vitro* kinase activity [12]. Enzymatically active MPKs can be purified from co-translation mixtures of the upstream GOF-MKK with the MPK of interest. Using the established system, we have carried out *in vitro* kinase assays with GST-tagged plant PIN1-HL and its non-phosphorylatable mutant by using activated and affinity-purified His₆-tagged AtMPK4 (Group B) and AtMPK6 (Group A) kinases. We showed by radiolabelling that both MPKs – although AtMPK4 to a higher extent – could phosphorylate AtPIN1-HL. LC-MS/MS analysis confirmed three novel (T227, T248, T286) and a previously reported (S337) phosphorylation [23] by AtMPK6. Replacement of the three Thr residues with non-phosphorylatable alanine residues (PIN1-3A) leads to the diminished phosphorylation by AtMPK6 and AtMPK4 *in vitro*.

Phosphorylation by PINOID kinases is known to influence the subcellular localization of PIN proteins [25]. The importance of MPK-mediated phosphorylation of the previously mentioned Thr residues was investigated *in planta* in root-derived protoplasts by our co-authors. They have found that the expression of the AtPIN1 phosphomimetic mutant results in protein aggregate-formation with altered subcellular localisation, whereas the non-phosphorylatable mutant appears in a soluble form and associates with the RFP:ER marker. These data collectively indicate that phosphorylation of the conserved Thr sites by the two environmentally activated MPKs might regulate the subcellular localization of AtPIN1 and plant organ growth.

The wider applicability of the WGE-based *in vitro* translation for protein functional studies was limited by the small number of available affinity tags. Therefore, we have developed further our LIC site and His₆- and GST-tag harbouring vectors to synthesize proteins with FLAG- and His₁₂-tag. The FLAG-tag is a small peptide tag (DYKDDDDK), which is rarely found naturally in proteins, especially in comparison to the relatively abundantly occurring histidine composed amino acid stretches of eukaryotic proteins. FLAG-tagged proteins can be purified by bead-coupled anti-FLAG antibodies, making it

an expensive purification technique. In consequence, the FLAG-tag is generally used when specific detection rather than the purification of the target protein is required [13]. Khan et al. demonstrated that two His₆ tags connected by a linker sequence had improved binding to Ni-NTA surfaces [15]. With an ambition to improve the purification of WGE expressed proteins, we created the His₁₂-tagging vector. According to our results, the binding was not enhanced significantly compared to the His₆-tagged protein, although further investigations with other affinity beads and buffer conditions are required to address this issue unambiguously. On the other hand, we could see a striking sensitivity difference between His₆- and His₁₂-tagged proteins if they are detected on Western blots, i.e. at least 25x less target protein could be visualized by using the same Western blot conditions. This result makes the application of His₁₂-tagged proteins the method of choice when in pull-down assays the detection of small amounts of prey proteins is required. Of note, FLAG-tag detection sensitivity could be improved by using three FLAG tags in tandem, i.e. a frequent practice in the case of epitope tags [13].

Although most studies focus on γ -tubulin function as a centrosome and MT organizer, γ -tubulin was shown to have functions in the coordination of cytosolic and nuclear events during the cell cycle in both animal and plant cells. For a long time, the chromatinassociated γ -tubulin amounts were underestimated because commercially available antibodies or tag-specific anti-GFP antibodies did not recognize this pool, possibly due to the PTMs and different conformations of different task performing γ -tubulins [81, 84, 87]. Nuclear localization of γ -tubulin in animal and plant cells in different stages of the cell cycle triggered several studies to investigate the non-canonical roles of γ -tubulin [87, 93]. Recent findings indicated that mammalian γ -tubulin has a role in G₁/S transition through interaction with E2Fs in the nucleus and modulates their transactivation activity [36]. In a collaboration, we aimed at investigating under *in vitro* circumstances whether *Arabidopsis* γ -tubulin has similar roles in cell cycle regulation in plants as well.

Due to the polymerization-prone nature of γ -tubulin [63, 90] we have compared the solubility of tagged γ -tubulins by using our novel vectors. Following centrifugation of the crude translation mixtures, the precipitates and soluble protein-containing supernatants were separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by immunoblotting. The obtained data demonstrated different solubilities of proteins of different tags. In contrast to the His₆- and His₁₂-labelled varieties, most of γ -tubulin was found in the soluble fractions when

GST- or FLAG-tag was used. In general, a high solubility rate is expected for proteins synthesized by WGE CFPS [124], and this was enhanced further by using the GST-tag – generally regarded as a solubility enhancing tag [13] – and the hydrophilic FLAG-tag [14]. The higher insoluble fraction of His-tagged γ -tubulin might be explained by the observation that polyhistidine tags could negatively alter protein solubility in certain cases [125].

Alleviated by the highly sensitive detection of His₁₂-tagged proteins, we examined the effects of co-translation on the solubility of the His₁₂-tagged γ -tubulin. The decreased translation rate and co-translational folding of complexes on ribosomes are reported to improve folding [126]. Indeed, the fraction of soluble His₁₂- γ -tubulin increased when it was co-expressed with its putative interacting partner GST-AtE2FA instead of GST.

Lindström et al. have observed that in the case of animal γ -tubulin the large molecular weight γ -tubules are formed in a GTP-dependent manner [86], whereas Chumová et al. have shown that GTP does not affect the assembly of higher molecular weight γ -tubulin filaments in plants [63]. GTP-binding, but not GTPase activity of γ -tubulin was described [67–69]. In the case of the bilayer *in vitro* translation used by us, the feeding buffer contains 0.25 mM GTP; thus, it cannot be excluded that the expressed γ -tubulin is cotranslationally GTP-bound, as its affinity for GTP is in the nanomolar range.

According to the classical model, E2F transcription factors have a role in preparation for S phase and commitment to cell division. They form a complex with DPs and bind to promoters of genes involved in DNA replication. In animal cells γ -tubulin can interact with activator E2F1, E2F2, or E2F3, but not with repressor E2F6 [36]. The border between activator and repressor activities of plant E2Fs is not that obvious as in the case of animal E2Fs [48]. We provide several lines of evidence that plant γ -tubulin can specifically interact with all E2Fs: (i) co-translation of γ -tubulin with AtE2FA improved γ -tubulin solubility, (ii) not even high salt concentration disrupts the interaction between γ -tubulin and AtE2FA, (iii) γ -tubulin can be detected with GST-tagged AtE2FA, AtE2FB and AtE2FC in GST pull-down assays. Högg et al. mapped the interaction surface between animal γ -tubulin displaced DP1 from the E2F1-DP1 heterodimer [36]. In contrast, our dimerization-domain containing truncated plant E2Fs (data not shown) and our dimerization domain lacking E2F variants also interact with γ -tubulin, suggesting that the dimerization domain is not required for plant E2F- γ -tubulin interactions. These results were corroborated by the finding that γ -tubulin is not displaced from AtE2F- γ -tubulin complexes by AtDPs, these three proteins rather form a ternary complex. The interaction between γ -tubulin and AtE2Fs was also confirmed by *in planta* immunoprecipitation reactions implemented by our co-authors.

In mammalian cells, γ -tubulin interaction with activator E2Fs represses their activities and regulates G₁/S transition, e.g. repression of cyclin E expression is assumed to prevent centrosome reduplication. It was also revealed that animal γ -tubulin can bind directly to the E2F binding site, and this binding is mediated by the C-terminal domain of γ -tubulin encompassing its DNA binding domain (Figure 2B) [36]. In our EMSA and AlphaScreen *in vitro* experiments, γ -tubulin alone or in association with AtE2FB did not bind to the E2F consensus DNA sequence, only its ternary complex-forming form could bind to the E2F binding site. We showed that the formation of the putative ternary complex through random pre-incubation of the mixtures does not influence DNA binding; thus, in agreement with our pull-down assays, AtDPB and γ -tubulin binding to AtE2FB do not take place at overlapping sites. Furthermore, our AlphaScreen experiments suggest that the association of γ -tubulin with the AtE2FB-AtDPB heterodimer modulates the strength of DNA binding of AtE2FB-AtDPB, i.e. DNA binding strength is decreased, but confirmation of this observation requires further experiments.

Because γ -tubulin and E2F1 bind to the same DNA sequence in animal cells, Rb and γ -tubulin might complement each other in the regulation of gene expression. The E2F induced genes are required for centrosome duplication and DNA replication. It is also known that Rb is involved in the recruitment of DNA-remodelling factors that indicates γ -tubulin might have similar functions [85]. The expression and localization of γ -tubulin is altered in retinoblastoma; thus, γ -tubulin might be a suitable target in Rb-deficient tumours [95]. Additionally, γ -tubulin has an important role in the proper operation of the nervous system, the spontaneous mutation of *TUBG1* was associated with brain malformations causing intellectual disabilities in children [77].

Although cell cycle regulators are conserved between animals and plants, the latter organisms have developed unique mechanisms owing to their sessile nature [127]. The participation of γ -tubulin in the formation of a repressor complex together with E2Fs at the G₁/S transition seems to be evolutionarily conserved but several plant-specific

regulatory roles are also suggested at the G₂/M transition for this protein. Our co-authors have found that γ -tubulin silencing derepresses certain E2F target genes at both G₁/S and G₂/M transitions, e.g. *CYCD3;1* and *CDKB1;1*, respectively, and causes endoreduplication. In addition to the plant-specific mitotic regulator CDKB1;1, they have found that γ -tubulin also participates in the repression of *CCS52A*, which was shown to be repressed also by the AtE2FA-AtRBR1 complex [47]. AtCCS52A is an activator of the plant anaphase-promoting complex and represses endocycle onset [127]. Mitotic roles of plant γ -tubulin are also supported by its co-localization with AtCYCB1;3 at the nuclear membrane during G₂ phase [46].

In plants, the decision between proliferation and differentiation is tightly regulated. When they stop proliferating and start differentiating, plants often choose to enter the endocycle (endoreplication, endoreduplication), and γ -tubulin seems to be a key player in the coordination of these plant developmental events.

6. Conclusions

The environmentally activated MAPK signalling pathways regulate several processes in all eukaryotes. Despite their importance, our knowledge of plant MPK substrate phosphorylation is limited. In our investigation, we aimed to reveal MPK phosphorylation sites in AtPIN1-HL. Based on our results, the conclusions are:

- AtPIN1-HL is phosphorylated *in vitro* by two environmentally activated MPKs, AtMPK6 and AtMPK4, and according to the LC-MS/MS results T227, T248 and T286 residues were phosphorylated by AtMPK6.
- The above findings were confirmed by using non-phosphorylatable mutant AtPIN1-3A as the substrate of the *in vitro* kinase reaction, and accordingly, none of the studied kinases could phosphorylate the mutant variant of AtPIN1.

The wheat germ-based *in vitro* translation is generally suitable for the translation of eukaryotic proteins in a native form, and the yield is satisfactory for most of the *in vitro* functional assays. We have further developed the already available pEU3-NII vector set to synthesize proteins with FLAG-tag and His₁₂-tag, besides the previously available His₆-tag and GST-tag. Our results are:

- We have created the pEU3-NII-FLAGLICNot (#140184) and pEU3-NII-HxHLICNot (#140183) vectors that were deposited to Addgene plasmid stock.
- Both FLAG- and His₁₂-tagged proteins could be expressed successfully, and the FLAG-tagged proteins could be detected with high specificity, whereas the His₁₂tagged proteins with high sensitivity in comparison to His₆-tagged proteins.

Although there are thousands of published studies about E2Fs, not all of their protein interaction partners have been revealed yet. Recent findings indicated that γ -tubulin, a classically MT nucleation-related protein, could interact with mammalian E2Fs and affect their transcriptional activities by competing out DPs from the E2F-DP complexes. We aimed at unravelling if such interactions exist in *Arabidopsis* too. Based on the results, our conclusions are:

- Plant γ-tubulin interacts with AtE2FA/B/C, but not with AtMYB66 transcription factor, and the interaction is mediated by the N-terminus of AtE2Fs.
- AtE2Fs can simultaneously bind AtDPs and plant γ-tubulin thus forming a ternary complex.
- The ternary complex binds to the E2F consensus site through E2Fs.

7. Summary

The effectors of MAPKs, a broad range of substrates, are modulated through their phosphorylation states. AtPIN1-HL produced by *in vitro* translation was subjected to *in* vitro kinase assays with activated AtMPK6 and AtMPK4 by using ³²P-labelled ATP. We found that both kinases could phosphorylate AtPIN1. Next, we performed an in vitro kinase assay with cold ATP and AtMPK6, and LC-MS/MS analysis of the sample revealed three novel phosphorylation sites. Finally, the obtained results with the nonphosphorylatable PIN1-3A mutant protein confirmed that the mutated amino acid residues are indeed involved in the phosphorylation and AtPIN1-HL is a bona fide AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 substrate. Intending to implement sophisticated in vitro functional analyses of proteins, it was indispensable to continuously expand and enhance our toolkit; thus, we have improved the available WGE-based in vitro translation compatible vectors. The data presented in the thesis testified enhanced detection specificity and sensitivity of FLAG- and His12-tagging vector encoded proteins, respectively. In addition to the classical role of y-tubulin in MT nucleation, it was also shown to affect the transcriptional activity of E2F1 in mammalian cells during S phase. Considering the in planta observations hinting nuclear functions of y-tubulin, we aimed to investigate the plant ytubulin-AtE2F interactions and DNA-binding properties. Knowing that y-tubulin is a notoriously polymerizing protein, we thoroughly evaluated the properties of differently tagged plant γ -tubulin in the WGE-based translation system. We found that all studied tags provided a certain level of γ -tubulin in a soluble monomeric form. The protein interaction studies showed that γ -tubulin could interact with the analysed plant E2Fs and could not be expelled from the complex even by an excess of DPs. The specificity of these interactions was scrutinized by applying the AtMYB66 transcription factor. These experiments demonstrated that while the AtMYB66 protein could not interact with γ tubulin, the y-tubulin-AtE2FA complex could not be disrupted even by rigorous washing with a high salt concentration buffer. We also showed by using the truncated version of E2Fs that their dimerization domain is not required for γ -tubulin binding, and γ -tubulin and DPs can simultaneously bind to E2Fs and form a ternary complex. Finally, we found that the y-tubulin-AtE2FB-AtDPB ternary complex can bind to the E2F consensus motif holding DNA and - similarly to the AtE2FB-AtDPB heterodimer - this binding takes place through the E2F protein.

8. References

- NE Gregorio, MZ Levine, JP Oza. (2019) A User's Guide to Cell-Free Protein Synthesis. *Methods Protoc*, 2:24
- Y Shimizu, A Inoue, Y Tomari, T Suzuki, T Yokogawa, K Nishikawa, T Ueda.
 (2001) Cell-free translation reconstituted with purified components. *Nat Biotechnol*, 19:751–755
- 3. AS Spirin. (2004) High-throughput cell-free systems for synthesis of functionally active proteins. *Trends Biotechnol*, 22:538–545
- 4. S Mureev, O Kovtun, UTT Nguyen, K Alexandrov. (2009) Species-independent translational leaders facilitate cell-free expression. *Nat Biotechnol*, 27:747–752
- M Buntru, S Vogel, K Stoff, H Spiegel, S Schillberg. (2015) A versatile coupled cell-free transcription-translation system based on tobacco BY-2 cell lysates. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 112:867–878
- 6. N Goshima, Y Kawamura, A Fukumoto, A Miura, R Honma, R Satoh, A Wakamatsu, JI Yamamoto, K Kimura, T Nishikawa, T Andoh, Y Iida, K Ishikawa, E Ito, N Kagawa, C Kaminaga, KI Kanehori, B Kawakami, K Kenmochi, et al. (2008) Human protein factory for converting the transcriptome into an in vitro-expressed proteome. *Nat Methods*, 5:1011–1017
- 7. H Takahashi, A Uematsu, S Yamanaka, M Imamura, T Nakajima, K Doi, S Yasuoka, C Takahashi, H Takeda, T Sawasaki. (2016) Establishment of a wheat cell-free synthesized protein array containing 250 human and mouse E3 ubiquitin ligases to identify novel interaction between E3 ligases and substrate proteins. *PLoS One*, 11:1–17
- T Tsuboi, S Takeo, H Iriko, L Jin, M Tsuchimochi, S Matsuda, ET Han, H Otsuki, O Kaneko, J Sattabongkot, R Udomsangpetch, T Sawasaki, M Torii, Y Endo. (2008) Wheat germ cell-free system-based production of malaria proteins for discovery of novel vaccine candidates. *Infect Immun*, 76:1702–1708
- K Madin, T Sawasaki, T Ogasawara, Y Endo. (2000) A highly efficient and robust cell-free protein synthesis system prepared from wheat embryos: plants apparently contain a suicide system directed at ribosomes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97:559– 564
- 10. T Sawasaki, T Ogasawara, R Morishita, Y Endo. (2002) A cell-free protein

synthesis system for high-throughput proteomics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99:14652–14657

- T Sawasaki, Y Hasegawa, M Tsuchimochi, N Kamura, T Ogasawara, T Kuroita, Y Endo. (2002) A bilayer cell-free protein synthesis system for high-throughput screening of gene products. *FEBS Lett*, 514:102–105
- V Bardóczy, V Géczi, T Sawasaki, Y Endo, T Mészáros. (2008) A set of ligationindependent in vitro translation vectors for eukaryotic protein production. *BMC Biotechnol*, 8:32
- CL Young, ZT Britton, AS Robinson. (2012) Recombinant protein expression and purification: A comprehensive review of affinity tags and microbial applications. *Biotechnol J*, 7:620–634
- 14. A Einhauer, A Jungbauer. (2001) The FLAGTM peptide, a versatile fusion tag for the purification of recombinant proteins. *J Biochem Biophys Methods*, 49:455–465
- F Khan, M He, MJ Taussig. (2006) Double-hexahistidine tag with high-affinity binding for protein immobilization, purification, and detection on Ninitrilotriacetic acid surfaces. *Anal Chem*, 78:3072–3079
- GA Khoury, RC Baliban, CA Floudas. (2011) Proteome-wide post-translational modification statistics: Frequency analysis and curation of the swiss-prot database. *Sci Rep*, 1:1–5
- A Stein, RA Pache, P Bernadó, M Pons, P Aloy. (2009) Dynamic interactions of proteins in complex networks: a more structured view. *FEBS J*, 276:5390–5405
- K Ichimura, K Shinozaki, G Tena, J Sheen, Y Henry, A Champion, M Kreis, S Zhang, H Hirt, C Wilson, E Heberle-Bors, BE Ellis, PC Morris, RW Innes, JR Ecker, D Scheel, DF Klessig, Y Machida, J Mundy, et al. (2002) Mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades in plants: A new nomenclature. *Trends Plant Sci*, 7:301– 308
- T Feilner. (2005) High Throughput Identification of Potential Arabidopsis Mitogen-activated Protein Kinases Substrates. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 4:1558–1568
- SC Popescu, G V. Popescu, S Bachan, Z Zhang, M Gerstein, M Snyder, SP Dinesh-Kumar. (2009) MAPK target networks in Arabidopsis thaliana revealed using functional protein microarrays. *Genes Dev*, 23:80–92
- 21. SC Popescu, G V Popescu, M Snyder, SP Dinesh-Kumar. (2009) Integrated

analysis of co-expressed MAP kinase substrates in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Signal Behav*, 4:524–527

- P Křeček, P Skůpa, J Libus, S Naramoto, R Tejos, J Friml, E Zažímalová. (2009) The PIN-FORMED (PIN) protein family of auxin transporters. *Genome Biol*, 10:1–11
- 23. W Jia, B Li, S Li, Y Liang, X Wu, M Ma, J Wang, J Gao, Y Cai, Y Zhang, Y Wang, J Li, Y Wang. (2016) Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Cascade MKK7-MPK6 Plays Important Roles in Plant Development and Regulates Shoot Branching by Phosphorylating PIN1 in Arabidopsis. *PLoS Biol*, 14:1–24
- M Zourelidou, I Müller, BC Willige, C Nill, Y Jikumaru, H Li, C Schwechheimer.
 (2009) The polarly localized D6 PROTEIN KINASE is required for efficient auxin transport in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Development*, 136:627–636
- F Huang, MK Zago, L Abas, A van Marion, CS Galván-Ampudia, R Offringa. (2010) Phosphorylation of conserved PIN motifs directs Arabidopsis PIN1 polarity and auxin transport. *Plant Cell*, 22:1129–1142
- N Dephoure, KL Gould, SP Gygi, DR Kellogg. (2013) Mapping and analysis of phosphorylation sites: a quick guide for cell biologists. *Mol Biol Cell*, 24:535–542
- SK Nagy, Z Darula, BM Kállai, L Bögre, G Bánhegyi, KF Medzihradszky, G V Horváth, T Mészáros. (2015) Activation of AtMPK9 through autophosphorylation that makes it independent of the canonical MAPK cascades. *Biochem J*, 467:167– 175
- CJ Hastie, HJ McLauchlan, P Cohen. (2006) Assay of protein kinases using radiolabeled ATP: a protocol. *Nat Protoc*, 1:968–971
- 29. SC Peck. (2006) Analysis of protein phosphorylation: methods and strategies for studying kinases and substrates. *Plant J*, 45:512–522
- S Matsunaga, Y Katagiri, Y Nagashima, T Sugiyama, J Hasegawa, K Hayashi, T Sakamoto. (2013) New insights into the dynamics of plant cell nuclei and chromosomes. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol*, 305:253–301
- T Otto, P Sicinski. (2017) Cell cycle proteins as promising targets in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 17:93–115
- 32. Z Kais, JD Parvin. (2008) Regulation of centrosomes by the BRCA1-dependent ubiquitin ligase. *Cancer Biol Ther*, 7:1540–1543

- RL Ferguson, JL Maller. (2010) Centrosomal Localization of Cyclin E-Cdk2 Is Required for Initiation of DNA Synathesis. *Curr Biol*, 20:856–860
- K Mikule, B Delaval, P Kaldis, A Jurcyzk, P Hergert, S Doxsey. (2007) Loss of centrosome integrity induces p38-p53-p21-dependent G1-S arrest. *Nat Cell Biol*, 9:160–170
- 35. HZ Chen, SY Tsai, G Leone. (2009) Emerging roles of E2Fs in cancer: An exit from cell cycle control. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 9:785–797
- G Hoog, R Zarrizi, K von Stedingk, K Jonsson, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2011) Nuclear localization of γ-tubulin affects E2F transcriptional activity and S-phase progression. *FASEB J*, 25:3815–3827
- CL Wu, LR Zukerberg, C Ngwu, E Harlow, JA Lees. (1995) In vivo association of E2F and DP family proteins. *Mol Cell Biol*, 15:2536–2546
- WH Shen. (2002) The plant E2F-Rb pathway and epigenetic control. *Trends Plant* Sci, 7:505–511
- AM Narasimha, M Kaulich, GS Shapiro, YJ Choi, P Sicinski, SF Dowdy. (2014)
 Cyclin D activates the Rb tumor suppressor by mono-phosphorylation. *Elife*, 3:1–21
- I Thurlings, A De Bruin. (2016) E2F transcription factors control the roller coaster ride of cell cycle gene expression. In: Amanda CS, Loiuse W (eds) Methods Mol. Biol. Humana Press, New York, NY, pp 71–88
- Z Magyar, A Atanassova, L De Veylder, S Rombauts, D Inzé. (2000) Characterization of two distinct DP-related genes from Arabidopsis thaliana. *FEBS Lett*, 486:79–87
- 42. T Lammens, J Li, G Leone, L De Veylder. (2009) Atypical E2Fs: new players in the E2F transcription factor family. *Trends Cell Biol*, 19:111–118
- S Kosugi, Y Ohashi. (2002) Interaction of the arabidopsis E2F and DP proteins confers their concomitant nuclear translocation and transactivation. *Plant Physiol*, 128:833–843
- L De Veylder, T Beeckman, D Inzé. (2007) The ins and outs of the plant cell cycle.
 Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 8:655–665
- 45. VA Sánchez-Camargo, C Suárez-Espinoza, SM Garza-Aguilar, S Romero-Rodríguez, M Stam, E García-Ramírez, A Lara-Núñez, JM Vázquez-Ramos.

(2020) Maize E2F Transcription Factors. Expression, Association to Promoters of S-phase genes and Interaction with the RBR1 protein in chromatin during Seed Germination. *Plant Sci*, 296:110491

- 46. J Van Leene, J Hollunder, D Eeckhout, G Persiau, E Van De Slijke, H Stals, G Van Isterdael, A Verkest, S Neirynck, Y Buffel, S De Bodt, S Maere, K Laukens, A Pharazyn, PCG Ferreira, N Eloy, C Renne, C Meyer, JD Faure, et al. (2010) Targeted interactomics reveals a complex core cell cycle machinery in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Mol Syst Biol*, 6:397
- Z Magyar, B Horváth, S Khan, B Mohammed, R Henriques, L De Veylder, L Bakó,
 B Scheres, L Bögre. (2012) Arabidopsis E2FA stimulates proliferation and endocycle separately through RBR-bound and RBR-free complexes. *EMBO J*, 31:1480–1493
- Z Magyar, L De Veylder, A Atanassova, L Bakó, D Inzé, L Bögre. (2005) The role of the Arabidopsis E2FB transcription factor in regulating auxin-dependent cell division. *Plant Cell*, 17:2527–2541
- P Rossignol, R Stevens, C Perennes, S Jasinski, R Cella, D Tremousaygue, C Bergounioux. (2002) AtE2F-a and AtDP-a, members of the E2F family of transcription factors, induce Arabidopsis leaf cells to re-enter S phase. *Mol Genet Genomics*, 266:995–1003
- 50. L De Veylder, T Beeckman, GTS Beemster, J De Almeida Engler, S Ormenese, S Maes, M Naudts, E Van der Schueren, A Jacqmard, G Engler, D Inzé. (2002) Control of proliferation, endoreduplication and differentiation by the Arabidopsis E2Fa-DPa transcription factor. *EMBO J*, 21:1360–1368
- 51. SM De Jager, S Scofield, RP Huntley, AS Robinson, BGW Den Boer, JAH Murray. (2009) Dissecting regulatory pathways of G1/S control in Arabidopsis: Common and distinct targets of CYCD3;1, E2Fa and E2Fc. *Plant Mol Biol*, 71:345–365
- 52. BM Horvath, H Kourova, S Nagy, E Nemeth, Z Magyar, C Papdi, Z Ahmad, GF Sanchez-Perez, S Perilli, I Blilou, A Pettkó-Szandtner, Z Darula, T Meszaros, P Binarova, L Bogre, B Scheres. (2017) Arabidopsis RETINOBLASTOMA RELATED directly regulates DNA damage responses through functions beyond cell cycle control. *EMBO J*, 36:1261–1278

- 53. E Oszi, C Papdi, B Mohammed, A Petkó-Szandtner, T Leviczky, E Molnár, C Galvan-Ampudia, S Khan, EL Juez, B Horváth, L Bögre, Z Magyar. (2020) E2FB interacts with RETINOBLASTOMA RELATED and regulates cell proliferation during leaf development. *Plant Physiol*, 182:518–533
- JC Del Pozo, MB Boniotti, C Gutierrez. (2002) Arabidopsis E2Fc functions in cell division and is degraded by the ubiquitin-SCFAtSKP2 pathway in response to light. *Plant Cell*, 14:3057–3071
- 55. A Rabinovich, VX Jin, R Rabinovich, X Xu, PJ Farnham. (2008) E2F in vivo binding specificity: Comparison of consensus versus nonconsensus binding sites. *Genome Res*, 18:1763–1777
- 56. K Vandepoele, K Vlieghe, K Florquin, L Hennig, GTS Beemster, W Gruissem, Y Van de Peer, D Inzé, L De Veylder, D Inze, L De Veylder. (2005) Genome-wide identification of potential plant E2F target genes. *Plant Physiol*, 139:316–328
- CE Oakley, BR Oakley. (1989) Identification of γ-tubulin, a new member of the tubulin superfamily encoded by mipA gene of Aspergillus nidulans. *Nature*, 338:662–664
- BR Oakley, CE Oakley, Y Yoon, MK Jung. (1990) γ-tubulin is a component of the spindle pole body that is essential for microtubule function in Aspergillus nidulans. *Cell*, 61:1289–1301
- 59. BR Oakley. (1992) γ-Tubulin: the microtubule organizer? Trends Cell Biol, 2:1–5
- 60. SK Dutcher. (2001) The tubulin fraternity: Alpha to eta. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 13:49–54
- Liu Bo, HC Joshi, TJ Wilson, CD Silflow, BA Palevitz, DP Snustad. (1994) gamma-Tubulin in Arabidopsis: Gene sequence, immunoblot, and immunofluorescence studies. *Plant Cell*, 6:303–314
- M Pastuglia, J Azimzadeh, M Goussot, C Camilleri, K Belcram, JL Evrard, AC Schmit, P Guerche, D Bouchez. (2006) γ-tubulin is essential for microtubule organization and development of Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell*, 18:1412–1425
- G3. J Chumová, L Trögelová, H Kourová, J Volc, V Sulimenko, P Halada, O Kučera, O Benada, A Kuchařová, A Klebanovych, P Dráber, G Daniel, P Binarová. (2018)
 γ-Tubulin has a conserved intrinsic property of self-polymerization into double stranded filaments and fibrillar networks. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res*,

1865:734–748

- J Roostalu, C Thomas, NI Cade, S Kunzelmann, IA Taylor, T Surrey. (2020) The speed of GTP hydrolysis determines GTP cap size and controls microtubule stability. *Elife*, 9:1–22
- 65. E Nogales, KH Downing, LA Amos, J Löwe. (1998) Tubulin and FtsZ form a distinct family of GTPases. *Nat Struct Biol*, 5:451–458
- 66. YF Inclán, E Nogales. (2001) Structural models for the self-assembly and microtubule interactions of γ -, δ and ϵ -tubulin. *J Cell Sci*, 114:413–422
- 67. H Aldaz, LM Rice, T Stearns, DA Agard. (2005) Insights into microtubule nucleation from the crystal structure of human γ-tubulin. *Nature*, 435:523–527
- 68. LM Rice, EA Montabana, DA Agard. (2008) The lattice as allosteric effector: Structural studies of αβ- and γ-tubulin clarify the role of GTP in microtubule assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105:5378–5383
- L Gombos, A Neuner, M Berynskyy, LL Fava, RC Wade, C Sachse, E Schiebel.
 (2013) GTP regulates the microtubule nucleation activity of γ-tubulin. *Nat Cell Biol*, 15:1317–1327
- T Hubert, J Vandekerckhove, J Gettemans. (2011) Cdk1 and BRCA1 target γtubulin to microtubule domains. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 414:240–245
- T La Cour, L Kiemer, A Mølgaard, R Gupta, K Skriver, S Brunak. (2004) Analysis and prediction of leucine-rich nuclear export signals. *Protein Eng Des Sel*, 17:527– 536
- 72. M Kumar, M Gouw, S Michael, H Sámano-Sánchez, R Pancsa, J Glavina, A Diakogianni, JA Valverde, D Bukirova, J Signalyševa, N Palopoli, NE Davey, LB Chemes, TJ Gibson. (2020) ELM-the eukaryotic linear motif resource in 2020. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 48:D296–D306
- 73. B Hořejší, S Vinopal, V Sládková, E Dráberová, V Sulimenko, T Sulimenko, V Vosecká, A Philimonenko, P Hozák, CD Katsetos, P Dráber. (2012) Nuclear γ-tubulin associates with nucleoli and interacts with tumor suppressor protein C53. *J Cell Physiol*, 227:367–382
- J Chumová, H Kourová, L Trögelová, P Halada, P Binarová. (2019) Microtubular and Nuclear Functions of γ-Tubulin: Are They LINCed? *Cells*, 8:259
- 75. JM Kollman, A Merdes, L Mourey, DA Agard. (2011) Microtubule nucleation by

γ-tubulin complexes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 12:709–721

- G Goshima, A Kimura. (2010) New look inside the spindle: microtubuledependent microtubule generation within the spindle. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 22:44– 49
- BR Oakley, V Paolillo, Y Zheng. (2015) γ-Tubulin complexes in microtubule nucleation and beyond. *Mol Biol Cell*, 26:2957–2962
- S Meunier, I Vernos. (2016) Acentrosomal Microtubule Assembly in Mitosis: The Where, When, and How. *Trends Cell Biol*, 26:80–87
- RM Ríos, A Sanchís, AM Tassin, C Fedriani, M Bornens. (2004) GMAP-210 recruits γ-tubulin complexes to cis-Golgi membranes and is required for Golgi ribbon formation. *Cell*, 118:323–335
- AE Radulescu, S Mukherjee, D Shields. (2011) The golgi protein p115 associates with γ-tubulin and plays a role in golgi structure and mitosis progression. *J Biol Chem*, 286:21915–21926
- D Dryková, V Cenklová, V Sulimenko, J Volc, P Dráber, P Binarová. (2003) Plant γ-tubulin interacts with αβ-tubulin dimers and forms membrane-associated complexes. *Plant Cell*, 15:465–480
- P Binarová, V Cenklová, J Procházková, P Binarova, M Vrlı. (2006) γ-Tubulin is essential for acentrosomal microtubule nucleation and coordination of late mitotic events in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell*, 18:1199–1212
- T Murata, S Sonobe, TI Baskin, S Hyodo, S Hasezawa, T Nagata, T Horio, M Hasebe. (2005) Microtubule-dependent microtubule nucleation based on recruitment of γ-tubulin in higher plants. *Nat Cell Biol*, 7:961–968
- CA Rosselló, L Lindström, J Glindre, G Eklund, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2016) Gamma-tubulin coordinates nuclear envelope assembly around chromatin. *Heliyon*, 2:e00166
- CA Rosselló, L Lindström, G Eklund, M Corvaisier, MA Kristensson. (2018) γ-Tubulin–γ-Tubulin Interactions as the Basis for the Formation of a Meshwork. *Int J Mol Sci*, 19:3245
- L Lindström, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2018) Characterization of gamma-tubulin filaments in mammalian cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Res*, 1865:158– 171

- P Binarová, V Cenklová, B Hause, E Kubátová, M Lysák, J Doležel, L Bögre, P Dräber. (2000) Nuclear γ-tubulin during acentriolar plant mitosis. *Plant Cell*, 12:433–442
- P Binarová, B Hause, J Doležel, P Dráber. (1998) Association of γ-tubulin with kinetochore/centromeric region of plant chromosomes. *Plant J*, 14:751–757
- M Corvaisier, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2020) Non-canonical functions of the gamma-tubulin meshwork in the regulation of the nuclear architecture. *Cancers* (*Basel*), 12:1–20
- M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2018) γ-Tubulin As a Signal-Transducing Molecule and Meshwork With Therapeutic Potential. *Signal Transduct Target Ther*, 3:1–6
- 91. M Ciska, SMD de la Espina. (2014) The intriguing plant nuclear lamina. *Front Plant Sci*, 5:1–13
- 92. LI Mullee, CG Morrison. (2016) Centrosomes in the DNA damage response—the hub outside the centre. *Chromosom Res*, 24:35–51
- 93. C Lesca, M Germanier, B Raynaud-Messina, C Pichereaux, C Etievant, S Emond, O Burlet-Schiltz, B Monsarrat, M Wright, M Defais. (2005) DNA damage induce γ-tubulin-RAD51 nuclear complexes in mammalian cells. *Oncogene*, 24:5165– 5172
- 94. S Zhang, P Hemmerich, F Grosse. (2007) Centrosomal localization of DNA damage checkpoint proteins. *J Cell Biochem*, 101:451–465
- 95. Å Ehlén, CA Rosselló, K Von Stedingk, G Höög, E Nilsson, HM Pettersson, K Jirström, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2012) Tumors with nonfunctional retinoblastoma protein are killed by reduced γ-tubulin levels. J Biol Chem, 287:17241–17247
- LC Hsu, TP Doan, RL White. (2001) Identification of a γ-tubulin-binding domain in BRCA1. *Cancer Res*, 61:7713–7718
- 97. LM Starita, Y Machida, S Sankaran, JE Elias, K Griffin, BP Schlegel, SP Gygi, JD Parvin. (2004) BRCA1-Dependent Ubiquitination of γ-Tubulin Regulates Centrosome Number. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24:8457–8466
- 98. L Kohoutová, H Kourová, SK Nagy, J Volc, P Halada, T Mészáros, I Meskiene, L Bögre, P Binarová. (2015) The Arabidopsis mitogen-activated protein kinase 6 is associated with γ-tubulin on microtubules, phosphorylates EB1c and maintains

spindle orientation under nitrosative stress. New Phytol, 207:1061-1074

- 99. LC Hsu, RL White. (1998) BRCA1 is associated with the centrosome during mitosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95:12983–12988
- 100. L Lindström, BO Villoutreix, S Lehn, R Hellsten, E Nilsson, E Crneta, R Olsson, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2015) Therapeutic targeting of nuclear g-tubulin in RB1-negative tumors. *Mol Cancer Res*, 13:1073–1082
- 101. L Lindström, T Li, D Malycheva, A Kancharla, H Nilsson, N Vishnu, H Mulder, M Johansson, CA Rosselló, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2018) The GTPase domain of gamma-tubulin is required for normal mitochondrial function and spatial organization. *Commun Biol*, 1:1–18
- 102. TW Hendrickson, J Yao, S Bhadury, AH Corbett, HC Joshi. (2001) Conditional mutations in γ-tubulin reveal its involvement in chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. *Mol Biol Cell*, 12:2469–2481
- NL Prigozhina, CE Oakley, AM Lewis, T Nayak, SA Osmani, BR Oakley. (2004)
 γ-Tubulin Plays an Essential Role in the Coordination of Mitotic Events. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15:1374–1386
- 104. T Nayak, H Edgerton-Morgan, T Horio, Y Xiong, CP De Souza, SA Osmani, BR Oakley. (2010) γ-Tubulin regulates the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome during interphase. *J Cell Biol*, 190:317–330
- M Alvarado-Kristensson, MJ Rodríguez, V Silió, JM Valpuesta, AC Carrera.
 (2009) SADB phosphorylation of γ-tubulin regulates centrosome duplication. *Nat Cell Biol*, 11:1081–1092
- 106. G Eklund, S Lang, J Glindre, Å Ehlén, M Alvarado-Kristensson. (2014) The nuclear localization of γ-tubulin is regulated by SadB-mediated phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem*, 289:21360–21373
- 107. PA Karpov, A V. Rayevsky, EE Krasnoperova, S V. Isayenkov, AI Yemets, YB Blume. (2017) Protein kinase KIN10 from Arabidopsis thaliana as a potential regulator of primary microtubule nucleation centers in plants. *Cytol Genet*, 51:415–421
- 108. OE Krasnoperova, DD Buy, II Goriunova, S V. Isayenkov, PA Karpov, YB Blume, AI Yemets. (2019) The Potential Role of SnRK1 Protein Kinases in the Regulation of Cell Division in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Cytol Genet*, 53:185–191

- 109. EE Krasnoperova, II Goriunova, S V. Isayenkov, PA Karpov, YB Blume, AI Yemets. (2019) Potential Involvement of KIN10 and KIN11 Catalytic Subunits of the SnRK1 Protein Kinase Complexes in the Regulation of Arabidopsis γ-Tubulin. *Cytol Genet*, 53:349–356
- 110. T chen Lin, L Gombos, A Neuner, D Sebastian, J V. Olsen, A Hrle, C Benda, E Schiebel. (2011) Phosphorylation of the yeast γ-tubulin tub4 regulates microtubule function. *PLoS One*, 6:e19700
- E Joachimiak, M Jerka-Dziadosz, Ł Krzemień-Ojak, E Wacławek, K Jedynak, P Urbanska, W Brutkowski, H Sas-Nowosielska, H Fabczak, J Gaertig, D Wloga. (2018) Multiple phosphorylation sites on γ-tubulin are essential and contribute to the biogenesis of basal bodies in Tetrahymena. *J Cell Physiol*, 233:8648–8665
- 112. J Vogel, B Drapkin, J Oomen, D Beach, K Bloom, M Snyder. (2001) Phosphorylation of γ-Tubulin Regulates Microtubule Organization in Budding Yeast. *Dev Cell*, 1:621–631
- 113. JM Keck, MH Jones, CCL Wong, J Binkley, D Chen, SL Jaspersen, EP Holinger, T Xu, M Niepel, MP Rout, J Vogel, A Sidow, JR Yates, M Winey. (2011) A cell cycle phosphoproteome of the yeast centrosome. *Science*, 332:1557–1561
- 114. BJ Payliss, J Vogel, AK Mittermaier. (2019) Side chain electrostatic interactions and pH-dependent expansion of the intrinsically disordered, highly acidic carboxyl-terminus of γ-tubulin. *Protein Sci*, 28:1095–1105
- 115. R Zarrizi, JA Menard, M Belting, R Massoumi. (2014) Deubiquitination of γtubulin by BAP1 prevents chromosome instability in breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res*, 74:6499–6508
- 116. S Sankaran, DE Crone, RE Palazzo, JD Parvin. (2007) Aurora-A kinase regulates breast cancer-associated gene 1 inhibition of centrosome-dependent microtubule nucleation. *Cancer Res*, 67:11186–11194
- 117. A Thirunavukarasou, G Govindarajalu, P Singh, V Bandi, K Muthu, S Baluchamy.
 (2014) Cullin 4A and 4B ubiquitin ligases interact with γ-tubulin and induce its polyubiquitination. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 401:219–228
- 118. O Trapp, K Seeliger, H Puchta. (2011) Homologs of breast cancer genes in plants.
 Front Plant Sci, 2:1–17
- 119. A Bateman. (2019) UniProt: A worldwide hub of protein knowledge. Nucleic

Acids Res, 47:D506–D515

- 120. SK Nagy, T Mészáros. (2014) In vitro translation-based protein kinase substrate identification. In: Alexandrov K, Johnston WA (eds) Methods Mol. Biol. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp 231–243
- 121. CE Németh, P Marcolongo, A Gamberucci, R Fulceri, A Benedetti, N Zoppi, M Ritelli, N Chiarelli, M Colombi, A Willaert, BL Callewaert, PJ Coucke, P Gróf, SK Nagy, T Mészáros, G Bánhegyi, É Margittai. (2016) Glucose transporter type 10—lacking in arterial tortuosity syndrome—facilitates dehydroascorbic acid transport. FEBS Lett, 1630–1640
- 122. FA Ditengou, D Gomes, H Nziengui, P Kochersperger, H Lasok, V Medeiros, IA Paponov, SK Nagy, TV Nádai, T Mészáros, B Barnabás, BI Ditengou, K Rapp, L Qi, X Li, C Becker, C Li, R Dóczi, K Palme. (2018) Characterization of auxin transporter PIN6 plasma membrane targeting reveals a function for PIN6 in plant bolting. *New Phytol*, 217:1610–1624
- 123. Y Mak, DJ Skylas, R Willows, A Connolly, SJ Cordwell, CW Wrigley, PJ Sharp, L Copeland. (2006) A proteomic approach to the identification and characterisation of protein composition in wheat germ. *Funct Integr Genomics*, 6:322–337
- M Harbers. (2014) Wheat germ systems for cell-free protein expression. FEBS Lett, 588:2762–2773
- 125. WT Booth, CR Schlachter, S Pote, N Ussin, NJ Mank, V Klapper, LR Offermann, C Tang, BK Hurlburt, M Chruszcz. (2018) Impact of an N-terminal polyhistidine tag on protein thermal stability. ACS Omega, 3:760–768
- M Liutkute, E Samatova, M V. Rodnina. (2020) Cotranslational folding of proteins on the ribosome. *Biomolecules*, 10:97
- S Komaki, K Sugimoto. (2012) Control of the plant cell cycle by developmental and environmental cues. *Plant Cell Physiol*, 53:953–964

9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

Publications related to the thesis:

Szilvia K Nagy*, **Brigitta M Kállai***, Judit András, Tamás Mészáros. (2020) A novel family of expression vectors with multiple affinity tags for wheat germ cell-free protein expression. BMC BIOTECHNOLOGY, 20:1–9 *Both authors contributed equally. IF: 2.312

Brigitta M Kállai*, Hana Kourová*, Jana Chumová, Csaba Papdi, Lucie Trögelová, Olga Kofroňová, Pavel Hozák, Vlada Filimonenko, Tamás Mészáros, Zoltán Magyar, László Bögre, Pavla Binarová. (2020) γ-Tubulin interacts with E2F transcription factors to regulate proliferation and endocycling in *Arabidopsis*. JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL BOTANY, 71:1265–1277

*Both authors contributed equally.

IF: 5.908

Magdalena Dory, Elizabeth Hatzimasoura, **Brigitta M Kállai**, Szilvia K Nagy, Katalin Jäger, Zsuzsanna Darula, Tímea V Nádai, Tamás Mészáros, Enrique López-Juez, Beáta Barnabás, Klaus Palme, László Bögre, Franck A Ditengou, Róbert Dóczi. (2018) Coevolving MAPK and PID phosphosites indicate an ancient environmental control of PIN auxin transporters in land plants. FEBS LETTERS 592:89–102 IF: 2.675

Publications not directly related to the thesis:

Veronika Svitkova, Jana Blaskovicova, Monika Tekelova, **Brigitta M Kallai**, Teodora Ignat, Veronika Horackova, Petr Skladal, Pavel Kopel, Vojtech Adam, Dana Farkasova, Jan Labuda. (2017) Assessment of CdS quantum dots effect on UV damage to DNA using a DNA/quantum dots structured electrochemical biosensor and DNA biosensing in solution. SENSORS AND ACTUATORS B: CHEMICAL 243:435–444 IF: 5.667

Szilvia K Nagy, Zsuzsanna Darula, **Brigitta M Kállai**, László Bögre, Gábor Bánhegyi, Katalin F. Medzihradszky, Gábor V Horváth, Tamás Mészáros. (2015) Activation of AtMPK9 through autophosphorylation that makes it independent of the canonical MAPK cascades. BIOCHEMICAL JOURNAL 467:167–175 IF: 3.562

10. Acknowledgements

I am really grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Tamás Mészáros, for accepting me in his lab, his endless patience, understanding, mentoring and keeping me on track during all these years, starting back from my graduate work; for introducing me to Prof. Dr. László Bögre and Dr. Beatrix Horváth from whom I received a lot of support both personally and professionally and with whom we had and have wonderful collaborations; that he has gathered all my amazing colleagues without whom the time spent in the lab would not have been the same: Anna Gyurkovics, Dr. Szilvia Nagy, Dr. Zsuzsanna Szeitner, Judit András, Dr. Éva Scholz, Krisztina Percze, Zoltán Tolnai, Ákos Harkai, Klaudia Németh, Juli Sziládi.

I am deeply thankful to Dr. Zsolt Rónai for always having faith in me and constantly guiding me in my work.

I am grateful to all members of the Molecular Biology Department and especially to the past and current heads of the department for providing me with the opportunity to work here: Prof. Dr. József Mandl, Prof. Dr. Gábor Bánhegyi, Dr. Gergely Keszler and Prof. Dr. Miklós Csala. I thank everybody for ensuring the technical background for my work: Valéria Béláné Szénási, Mária Gránicz, Józsefné Bombicz and Kinga Sonnevend.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Ján Labuda and Dr. Teodora Ignat for the opportunity to work as a trainee at the Slovak University of Technology and for their encouragement to start a PhD.

Last but not least I am grateful to my parents for raising me to be the person I am now, and my partner, Balázs Horváth, for his patience, care, and support. I thank all my friends who stayed with me all these years and did not give up on asking how am I going on with my PhD, especially Eszter Sokorai, Nóra Kormos, Csilla Pétervári and Trần Minh Thùy.

The collaborations mentioned in this thesis are with the following research group leaders:

- Dr. Róbert Dóczi, from the Hungarian Academy of Sciences Institute of Agriculture
- Prof. Dr. Pavla Binarová, from the Institute of Microbiology of the Czech Academy of Sciences

I received funding via the following grant: EFOP-3.6.3-VEKOP-16-2017-00009, Az orvos-, egészségtudományi- és gyógyszerképzés tudományos műhelyeinek fejlesztése.